COLLECTIVE BARGAINING CONTRACT

BETWEEN

SAN JUAN UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT P.O. Box 477 - 3738 Walnut Avenue Carmichael, California 95609-0477

and

CALIFORNIA SCHOOL EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION Chapter #127 8217 Auburn Boulevard Citrus Heights, California 95610

(General Unit)

November 15, 2023 - November 14, 2026

July 30, 2024

COLLECTIVE BARGAINING CONTRACT

November 15, 2023 - November 14, 2026

GENERAL UNIT

SAN JUAN UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 3738 Walnut Avenue, P.O. Box 477 Carmichael, California 95609-0477

BOARD OF EDUCATION

Pam Costa, President Saul Hernandez, Vice President Ben Avey, Clerk Tanya Kravchuck, Member Mauel Perez, Member Zima Creason, Member

ADMINISTRATION

Melissa Bassanelli, Superintendent of Schools Amy Slavensky, Ph.D., Interim Deputy Superintendent, Schools and Student Support Fhanysha Clark Gaddis, J.D., MPP, General Counsel Trent Allen, APR, Chief of Staff Frank Camarda, Chief Operations Officer Joel Ryan, Chief Financial Officer F.J. "Harvey" Oaxaca, Ed.D., Assistant Superintendent, Educational Services Kristan Schnepp, Assistant Superintendent, Secondary Education and Programs Rebecca Toto, Ed.D., Assistant Superintendent, Human Resources Amberlee Townsend-Snider, Assistant Superintendent, Elementary Education and Programs Daniel Thigpen, Executive Director, Labor Relations and Government Affairs Peter Skibitzki, Senior Director, Technology

CALIFORNIA SCHOOL EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION Chapter #127 8217 Auburn Boulevard Citrus Heights, California 95610

OFFICERS

Adara Clark-Gunn, President Teri Hofstetter, First Vice President Tracey Surette, Second Vice President Monique Boone-Steele, Third Vice President Victoria Mora-Ford, Secretary Joel Ravel, Treasurer Alex Surette, Sgt of Arms SAN JUAN UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT CALIFORNIA SCHOOL EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION CHAPTER #127

COLLECTIVE BARGAINING CONTRACT November 15, 2023 through November 14, 2026

SAN JUAN UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT

Pam Costa, President Board of Education

ANA

Melissa Bassanelli, Superintendent of Schools San Juan Unified School District

16th/Ir

Daniel Thigpen, Executive Director Labor Relations and Government Affairs SJUSD Negotiating Team

Colin Bross, Director Maintenance and Operations SJUSD Negotiating Team

Kristi Blandford, Director Fiscal Services SJUSD Negotiating Team

Harold Giffin, Analyst, Human Resources SJUSD Negotiating Team

CALIFORNIA SCHOOL EMPLOYEES ASSOC

Kurt Benfield, Labor Relations Representative California School Employees Association

Adara Chark-Gunn, President CSEA Negotiating Team

Teri Hofstetter, 1st Vice President CSEA Negotiating Team

David Barrie, Job Steward, Technology CSEA Negotiating Team

Jeffrie Harper, Job Steward Custodial CSEA Negotiating Team

David Wilkerson, Job Steward Maintenance and Operations CSEA Negotiating Team

mas

Virginia Jones, Job Steward, Clerical CSEA Negotiating Team

Penny Gardner, Job Steward, Nutrition Services CSEA Negotiating Team

Chris Cozzitorto, Job Steward Paraeducators/Special Services CSEA Negotiating Team

Table of Contents

ARTICLE	1	1
1. RE	ECOGNITION	1
1.1.	Acknowledgment	1
1.2.	Term	1
ARTICLE	2	
2. CH	ECK OFF AND ORGANIZATIONAL SECURITY	3
2.1	Professional Dues	3
2.2	Payroll Deductions	4
2.3	Mandatory New Employee Orientation	4
ARTICLE	3	6
3. EN	IPLOYER/EMPLOYEE RIGHTS	6
3.1	Management Rights and Employer Power	6
3.2	Employee/CSEA Rights	6
3.3.	Personnel Files	7
ARTICLE	4	9
4. GF	RIEVANCE PROCEDURE	9
4.1	Definitions	9
4.2	Time Limits	9
4.3	Presentation	9
4.4	Representation	9
4.5	Grievance Records	
4.6	Group Grievances	
4.7	Abandonment of the Grievance	
4.8	Procedure	
4.9	Association Grievance.	
ARTICLE	5	
5. HC	OURS AND OVERTIME	
5.1	Workweek	
5.2	Workday	14
5.3	Adjustment of Assigned Time	
5.4	Increase in Hours	

	5.5	Salary Adjustment Reassignment	. 16
	5.6	Meal Periods	. 17
	5.7	Rest Periods	. 17
	5.8	Voting Time Off	. 17
	5.9	Overtime	. 17
	5.10	Compensatory Time Off (CTO)	. 18
	5.11	Overtime Distribution	. 18
	5.12	Minimum Call-In Time	. 18
	5.13	Right of Refusal	. 18
	5.14	Standby Time	. 19
	5.15	Call Back Time	. 19
	5.16	Hours Worked	. 19
	5.17	Extra Hours	. 19
	5.18	On Call	. 20
	5.19	Duties Inconsistent with Assigned Position	20
	5.20	Collaboration Release Time	.21
AR	TICLE 6	δ	22
6	. SAL	ARY	22
	6.1	Salaries	. 22
	6.2	Other Adjustments	.24
	6.3	Lost Checks	. 24
	6.4	Payroll Errors	. 24
	6.5	Personal Property Loss- Reimbursement	.24
	6.6	Member Travel	. 25
	6.7	Newly Created Jobs	25
	6.8	Instructional Assistant (IA) Additional Compensation	. 26
	6.9	Occupational Therapist	28
	6.10	Bilingual Services Program	. 28
AR	TICLE 7	7	30
7	. FRII	NGE BENEFITS	. 30
	7.1	Medical, Dental, and Vision Plans	. 30
	7.2	Premium Payment for Leaves	. 31
	7 0	Developt Eveningtions	21
	7.3	Physical Examinations	31

ARTICLE 8		32
8. HO	LIDAYS	32
8.1	Holidays	32
8.2	Operations of this Article	32
8.3	School Year Calendar	32
ARTICLE	9	33
9. VA0	CATIONS	33
9.1	Eligibility	33
9.2	Accumulation	33
9.3	Vacation Pay	33
9.4	Vacation Pay Upon Termination	33
9.5	Vacation Postponement	34
9.6	Vacation Carry-Over	34
9.7	Vacation Scheduling	34
9.8	Interruption of Vacation	35
9.9	Vacation Sell Back	35
ARTICLE	10	36
10. L	EAVES	36
10.1	Bereavement Leave	36
10.2	Jury Leave	36
10.3	Military Leaves	36
10.4	Sick Leave	36
10.5	Industrial Accident and Illness Leave	38
10.6	Medical Transfer	39
10.7	Entitlement to Other Sick Leave	39
10.8	Break in Service	40
10.9	Miscellaneous Leave of Absence	40
10.10	Unpaid Parental Leave	40
10.11	Personal Necessity	40
10.12	Critical Illness Leave	41
10.13	Terminal Illness	41
10.14	Occupational Study/Retraining Leave	41
10.15	Return from Leaves	41
10.16	Catastrophic Sick Leave Bank	42

10.17	Chapter Release Time	44
ARTICLE 11		46
11. TR/	ANSFERS	46
11.1	Definition of Transfer	46
11.2	Employer-Initiated Job Site Transfers	46
11.3	Regular Employee-Initiated Job Site Transfer	46
11.4	Posting Vacancies	47
11.5	Promotions	48
ARTICLE 12		49
12. SAF	ETY	49
12.1	Member Safety	49
12.2	Building Site Safety	49
12.3	School/Site Safety Committee	49
12.4	District Safety Committee	50
12.5	Discrimination	50
12.6	Restroom Facilities	50
12.7	Safety Equipment	50
12.8	CSEA Safety Officer	50
12.9	Risk Management	50
ARTICLE 13		51
13. CO	NTRACT	51
13.1	Parties to the Contract	51
13.2	Distribution of Contract	51
13.3	Savings	51
ARTICLE 14		52
14. DEF	FINITIONS	52
14.1	Immediate Family	52
14.2	Immediate Supervisor	52
14.3	Standby Time	52
14.4	Workday	52
ARTICLE 15		53
15. LAY	′OFF	53
15.1	Definitions (Procedure)	53
15.2	Order of Layoff (Procedure)	53

15.3	Notification of Layoff (Procedure)	54
15.4	Improper Layoff Rights	54
15.5	Separation Benefits	54
15.6	Re-Employment from Layoff	55
ARTICLE 16		57
16. RET	FIREMENT	57
16.1	Retirement - Premium Payment	57
16.2	Early Retirement Incentive	58
ARTICLE 17		59
17. EVA	ALUATION	59
17.1	Employees in Probationary Status	59
17.2 R	egular Employees in Permanent Status	59
17.3	General	59
17.4	Evaluation Forms	60
ARTICLE 18		61
18. PR(DFESSIONAL GROWTH	61
18.1	For the 2021-2022 School Year:	61
18.2	Training Outside Work Hours	61
18.3	License/Certification Renewal	61
ARTICLE 19		62
19. JOI	NT COMMITTEE	62
ARTICLE 20		63
20. Bud	get Transparency	63
ARTICLE 21		64
21. The	Classified School Employee Summer Assistance Program (CSESAP)	64
ARTICLE 22		65
22. Exte	ended School Year and Summer School Program	65
22.1	Summer School and Extended School Year Employment	65
22.2	Summer Workability Assistance Program	65
	A-1 Classified General Unit Salary Schedule 2024-25	67
	B Classified Benefits Cost Schedule C Classified Formal Grievance	73 74

ARTICLE 1

1. **RECOGNITION**

- 1.1. Acknowledgment
 - 1.1.1The San Juan Unified School District (hereinafter District) acknowledges
that the California School Employees Association and its Chapter #127
(hereinafter Association) is the exclusive bargaining representative for all
classified employees holding those positions described in Appendix "A-1"
attached hereto and incorporated by reference as part of this Agreement.
These employees include classified employees who are probationary or
permanent employees performing in regular assignments.

Unless otherwise specified, the term "member" as used through this Agreement shall consist of regular employees in the General Unit

- 1.1.2 Any modifications which may result in expansion or contraction of these positions included in the bargaining unit as described in Appendix "A-1" are subject to the rules of PERB.
- 1.1.3 Disputed cases shall be submitted to the PERB for resolution.
- 1.1.4 To the extent that any agreement arrived at through "meet and negotiate" is reduced to writing and embodied in this Agreement or any addendum to this Agreement, the provisions shall be binding on all parties.
- 1.2. <u>Term</u>

All parties agree that this Tentative Agreement concludes negotiations for the 2023-24 school year. This agreement represents a new three (3) year contract, commencing November 15, 2023, through November 14, 2026.

- 1.2.1. The parties agree that negotiations of salary are concluded for 2023-24, 2024-25 and 2025-26. Reopener negotiations will still be held in 2025-26 and either party may propose up to two articles in addition to health benefits.
- 1.2.2. No later than the last Board meeting in February of each year of the contract, the California School Employees Association and its Chapter #127, agrees to present its proposals to the Board of Education for a successor contract or for any re-openers. No later than eight weeks after the presentation of the Association's initial proposal, The District shall respond with its initial proposal and thereafter negotiations shall begin within twenty (20) workdays.
- 1.2.3 This agreement contains the agreement of the parties as to all existing matters. By mutual consent of both parties which shall be set forth in writing, and provisions of this Agreement may be renegotiated at any time. Modifications to this Agreement arising from such negotiations shall become part of this contract.

- 1.2.4 The parties agree to reopen negotiations on articles each year
 - 1.2.4.1 Article 6 Salaries
 - 1.2.4.2 Article 7 Fringe Benefits
 - 1.2.4.3 Each party may also reopen any two (2) other articles

ARTICLE 2

2. CHECK OFF AND ORGANIZATIONAL SECURITY

- 2.1 <u>Professional Dues</u>
 - 2.1.1 After notification from the Association of the employees who have elected membership, the District shall deduct, in accordance with the Association dues schedule, state and chapter dues, from the wages of all employees who elect to be members of Association. The employer shall, without charge, pay to Association within fifteen (15) days of the deduction, all sums so deducted accompanied by an alphabetical list. The Association shall provide the District with a certified list of those employees who have authorized membership dues deductions from his or her salary. Any unit member who is a member of the Association, or who has applied for union membership, may sign and deliver to the Association a membership form authorizing deduction of unified membership dues, initiation fees and general assessments in the Association. Such authorization shall continue in effect from year-to-year unless revoked in writing with the Association. Deductions for unit members who sign such authorization after the commencement of the school year shall be appropriately pro-rated. The Association does not need to submit a copy of the written authorization to the District before commencing payroll deductions unless a dispute arises about the existence of terms of the authorization.
 - 2.1.2 With respect to all sums deducted by the District pursuant to information provided by the Association for membership dues, the District agrees to remit promptly such monies to the Association accompanied by an alphabetical list.
 - 2.1.3 If any member of the Association indicates their intention to revoke their membership status, the District shall immediately refer the member to Association and Association will be responsible for processing these requests. The District will rely on information provided by Association regarding dues payroll deduction.
 - 2.1.4 The Association agrees to furnish any information needed by the District to fulfill the provisions of this Article.
 - 2.1.5 Dues Deduction

The Association has the sole and exclusive right to have employee organization membership dues deducted from employees in the bargaining unit. Dues deductions shall become effective in the month in which the employee is employed. If any member attempts to provide a dues deduction form directly to the District thereby electing membership in Association, the parties agree that the form will be declined and the member referred to the Association for processing.

2.1.6 Hold Harmless and Indemnify The Association agrees to indemnify and hold the District harmless in any action taken to implement the terms of this agreement, and for any claims by employees for deductions made in reliance on Association's notification to the District or information that the Association provides to the District regarding employee payroll deductions. The union agrees to pay any damage judgment rendered against the District as a result of these provisions contained in this Article or the District's implementation thereof.

2.2 Payroll Deductions

Upon appropriate written authorization from the member, the District shall deduct from the salary of any member and make appropriate remittance for annuities, credit union, or any other plans or programs approved by the Association or District.

2.3 <u>Mandatory New Employee Orientation</u>

- 2.3.1 The San Juan Unified School District shall provide mandatory orientation sessions for new classified employees on a monthly basis as follows: The District shall conduct new Employee Orientations at least twice a week beginning July 15 of every year through August of every year on Tuesdays and Thursdays of each week starting at 3:30 p.m. and ending approximately at 4:30 p.m. Beginning in September of every year and continuing through January of every year the New Employee Orientations will move to once a week every month on Thursdays from 3:30 p.m. until approximately 4:30 p.m. Beginning in February of every year the New Employee Orientations can move to once every other week through May of every year. This Article does not restrict the District and CSEA from mutually agreeing to an alternate schedule as needed in order to process new employees.
- 2.3.2 Orientation sessions shall be held on San Juan Unified School District property and embedded during an employee's paid work day, where practicable. Employees will be paid at their hourly rate for the orientation session if attending outside of their contract hours.
- 2.3.3 CSEA shall be provided with up to thirty (30) minutes during the New Employee Orientation sessions to meet and present to new employees. A CSEA chapter representative(s), designated by the CSEA Chapter President, shall be given release time to make the presentation. The CSEA Labor Relations Representative may also be a presenter at the orientation.
- 2.3.4 If travel is required to conduct the CSEA orientation session, travel time shall also be on paid release time and shall not count towards the thirty (30) minute CSEA orientation session with the new hires.
- 2.3.5 If requested by CSEA, no District manager or other non-unit employee shall be present during CSEA's portion of the orientation session.
- 2.3.6 The District shall send an email to all new employees upon hiring. Immediately following the invitation to new employees describing the mandatory nature of the New Employee Orientations, the District shall also separately notify the employees' supervisors advising the need to release their employees to attend.

2.3.7 Should there be any classified employees that do not attend new employee orientation for any reason, CSEA shall have up to 15 minutes of uninterrupted time to meet with them at their assigned worksite during any period of their assigned contracted time.

ARTICLE 3

3. EMPLOYER/EMPLOYEE RIGHTS

3.1 Management Rights and Employer Power

It is understood and agreed that the District retains all powers and authority to direct and control District operations to the full extent of the law. Included but not limited to those duties and powers are the rights in accordance with applicable laws and District regulations to:

Direct the work of employees, determine the means and services to be provided, establish the educational philosophy and the goals and objectives of the District, school and/or other activity, insure the rights of students, employees, managers, and Board of Education members, determine the number and kinds of personnel required, determine new job classifications except for salary placement, maintain the efficiency of the District operation, build, move or modify the facilities, develop a budget, develop and implement budget procedures, and determine the methods of raising revenue. In addition, the District retains the right to hire, assign, evaluate, terminate and discipline employees.

Further, the District reserves the right to do all that is necessary to exercise the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities, including but not limited to, the adoption of policies, rules, regulations, and practices in furtherance thereof, and the use of judgment and discretion in connection therewith, and shall be limited only by the specific and express terms of this Agreement in conformance with the laws of the State of California.

3.2 Employee/CSEA Rights

- A. CSEA and/or its representatives have the right to access, at reasonable times, bargaining unit members and the areas in which bargaining unit members work, provided that such access does not interfere with a bargaining unit member's execution of assigned District duties and also provided that the CSEA representative gives notice to the immediate supervisor that he/she wishes to transact Association business on the job site. Upon arriving at a work site, the representative shall first report to the office of the site/department administrator and state the intended purpose and estimated length of visit. The term "reasonable times" as used herein means a bargaining unit member's meal / rest periods and any times before or after the member's assigned duty time.
- B. CSEA shall have the right to use District buildings and facilities at reasonable times in accordance with the District's use of facilities policy, when the facilities are not otherwise in use; provided that this shall not interfere with the work schedule or interrupt other normal school facility use.
- C. CSEA has the right to use without charge bulletin boards, mailboxes, the school mail system and the e-mail system, provided that all communications be properly identified as CSEA and that a copy of all non-confidential CSEA materials distributed to bargaining unit members be sent to the Classified Human Resources Director. CSEA officers or site representatives shall have access to mailboxes/bulletin boards for distribution of CSEA materials. A portion of one bulletin board in each school/district building where unit members are assigned shall be designated for

CSEA use. The CSEA bulletin board shall be placed in a conspicuous location on that site presenting easy access to its members. Upon notification to the District from CSEA, the District Maintenance and Operations Department will be responsible for affixing and/or mounting of the CSEA bulletin boards in the proper location.

- D. E-mail access will be permitted to CSEA provided and conditioned upon CSEA's compliance with Board Policy 0440.1 (Use of Computers, Computer Networks and Internet Services) and Administrative Regulation 0440.1 (Philosophy, Goals, Objectives and Comprehensive Plans) on the Use of District computers, computer Networks and Internet Services, and not in violation of Education Code 7054 (or 7055). In addition, political campaign literature shall not be posted on school bulletin boards or distributed by CSEA or any of its bargaining unit members, nor shall school facilities or equipment be used in any manner for political purposes in violation of Education Code Section 7054 (or 7055).
- E. Upon written request, the District shall respond to reasonable requests by CSEA for information concerning the financial resources of the district, including financial reports and audits, preliminary budget requirements and allocations after Board review or approval, staffing and enrollment information as needed or requested by CSEA.
- F. The CSEA Chapter President or designee shall be provided, via e-mail, with one (1) full copy of Board Agenda, including the minutes from the prior meeting, at the time of their publication.
- G. The District shall provide CSEA with the following lists:
 - 1. A bargaining unit member list on October 1 and May 1 of each year, which shall include the bargaining unit member's name, classification, hours per day, days per year and site.
 - 2. A seniority list for all classifications in the bargaining unit affected by layoff reduction in hours on or about March 1 of each year.

These lists can be provided via electronic transfer or by mailing a hard copy.

3.3. Personnel Files

- (a) Materials in personnel files of members which may serve as a basis for affecting the status of their employment are to be made available for the inspection of the member involved, or the designated CSEA representative.
- (b) Such material is not to include ratings, reports, or records which were obtained prior to the employment of the member involved or in connection with a promotional examination.
- (c) Every member shall have the right to inspect such materials upon request, provided

that the inspection is made at a time when the member is not actually required to render services to the District.

- (d) Information of a derogatory nature shall not be entered or filed unless and until the member is given notice and an opportunity to review and comment there on. The member shall be given an opportunity during normal work hours and without loss of pay to initial and date the material. A member shall have the right to enter, and have attached to any such derogatory statements, his/her own comments thereon, as per Ed Code 44031(b)(1).
- (e) Upon request from a bargaining unit member or CSEA (on behalf of a member), derogatory materials may be sealed in the personnel file at the discretion of the personnel director and made inaccessible to any District employee provided the materials were entered into a member's personnel file more than two years prior to the request. However, the personnel director may unseal the derogatory materials if the materials may be related to any employee discipline or litigation/claim/charge/complaint against the District. If, in the opinion of the personnel director the materials are related, the District retains the right to use the materials in discipline cases, or to respond to claims/charges/complaints or to defend itself.
- (f) Any person who places written material or drafts written material for placement in a member's file shall sign the material and signify the date on which such material was drafted. Any written material placed in a personnel file shall indicate the date of such placement. A copy of material shall be provided to the member.
- (g) Upon written authorization by the member, a representative of the Association shall be permitted to examine and obtain copies of the materials in such member's file.
- (h) Members' personnel files shall be treated as confidential.

ARTICLE 4

4. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

4.1 <u>Definitions</u>

The following definitions control the meaning of the terms used in this procedure.

- 4.1.1 A grievance is a complaint by one or more members that the member(s) has (have) been adversely affected by a violation or misapplication of a specific provision of this agreement arising during the term of this agreement.
- 4.1.2 Grievant" is a bargaining unit member or the Association.
- 4.1.3 "Immediate Supervisor" means the person at the lowest supervisory level outside the bargaining unit who is responsible for directing or evaluating the member(s).
- 4.1.4 "Party" means the grievant, grievant's representative, Association or the District.
- 4.1.5 "Workday" for purposes of establishing time limits for grievance processing under this article, means a day when the administrative offices of the District are open for business.

4.2 <u>Time Limits</u>

Each party involved in a grievance shall act quickly so that the grievance may be solved promptly. Every effort should be made to complete action within the time limits contained in the grievance procedure, but with the written consent of all parties, the time limitation for any step may be extended.

4.3 Presentation

The grievant shall be allowed to present a grievance (Appendix C) while on duty. Nomore than five (5) members may participate while on duty, whether grievant's, representatives, or witnesses, unless otherwise approved by the District. The Association's job steward shall be exempt from the five (5) member limitation.

4.4 Representation

- 4.4.1 The grievant may be represented by a representative of the Association at any step of the grievance procedure.
- 4.4.2 If the grievant at the initial presentation of a grievance is represented by the Association and subsequently elects to waive his/her right to Association representation, the grievant shall give twenty-four (24) hours written notice of such change to the person designated to hear the grievance at that step, and to the Association.
- 4.4.3. A member covered by this Agreement may present a grievance directly and have such grievance adjusted without intervention of the Association as long as the adjustment is not inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement. Where a grievance is resolved at any step under this Article and the

Association is not a representative of the grievant, such notification of resolution shall be presented to the Association prior to any implementation of the resolution. If the Association does not notify the District of its disagreement of the resolution within ten (10) workdays, it shall be implemented.

4.5 <u>Grievance Records</u>

All records concerning the member's grievance shall be kept in a file separate from the member's personnel file which shall be available for inspection only by the member, the member's designated representative and management.

4.6 <u>Group Grievances</u>

If the grievance involves members with different immediate supervisors, the grievance should be filed at Step II. Copies of the grievance initially filed at Step II shall be given to the immediate supervisors involved in the grievance. If the grievance involves alleged District-wide violation of this Agreement, the grievance may be submitted by the members of the Association at Step IV.

4.7 Abandonment of the Grievance

The grievant or his/her representative's failure to pursue the grievance within the time limits set forth in this grievance procedure unless specifically waived in writing shall be deemed a conclusive abandonment of the grievance.

4.8 Procedure

4.8.1 Step I - Formal

- (a) A grievance initially entered at Step I must be submitted in writing within twenty (20) workdays after the grievant(s) knows, or should have known, of the circumstances which form the basis of the grievance.
- (b) A formal grievance shall be submitted on a form prescribed by the District and approved by the Association. (Form is Appendix C)
- (c) Upon request by either party, a conference shall be conducted for the purpose of reviewing the grievance.
- (d) Within ten (10) workdays after submission of the grievance, or within ten (10) workdays after a conference is conducted, the immediate supervisor shall give the grievant(s) a written response to the grievance. The supervisor's response will include a statement of the supervisor's position. A copy of the written response to the grievance shall be sent to the Association.

4.8.2 Step II - Director/Administrator

- (a) If the grievant is not satisfied with the decision rendered at Step I, or if the supervisor fails to respond within the time limits provided pursuant to Step I, the grievant or his/her representative may submit the grievance in writing to the appropriate Director/Administrator.
- (b) The written grievance shall be submitted on a form prescribed by the District and approved by the Association.

- (c) The grievance must be submitted within ten (10) workdays following the decision at Step I, or ten (10) workdays following the supervisor's failure to respond within the prescribed time limits.
- (d) Upon request by either party, a conference shall be conducted for the purpose of reviewing the grievance.
- (e) The Director/Administrator shall respond within ten (10) workdays following submission of the grievance at Step II or, if a Step II conference is conducted, within ten (10) workdays from the conference. A copy of the written response to the grievance shall be sent to the grievant and his/her representative.
- (f) The Director/Administrator shall respond within ten (10) workdays following submission of the grievance at Step II, and that response shall include the Director's/Administrator's view of the facts and his/her conclusion respecting the contention of the grievant on appeal. A copy of the written response to the grievance shall be sent to the Association.

4.8.3 Step III - Mediation

- (a) If the grievant and/or the Association is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance, or if no disposition has occurred pursuant to the provisions of Step II, the grievant may assert their right to grievance mediation. Notice that the grievance is being referred to mediation shall be provided to the Superintendent or designee within ten (10) workdays of the decision at Step II. Should the grievant elect to skip Step III, the grievance will proceed to Step IV.
- (b) The District shall request that a conciliator/mediator from the California State Mediation/Conciliation Service be assigned to assist the parties in the resolution of the Grievance. Copies of any written communication with the Service shall be sent to the Association representative and notice of any oral communication shall be given.
- (c) Within ten (10) workdays of the assignment of a mediator, the Mediator, District representative, and Association representative shall agree on a date for a meeting with the mediator for the purpose of resolving the grievance. The meeting shall include the grievant and representatives of the Association and District representative that has the authority to resolve the issue.
- (d) If an agreement is reached in mediation, it shall be reduced to writing and signed by the grievant, the Association and the District representatives present during the mediation process. The agreement shall be non-precedential and shall constitute a settlement of the grievance.
- (e) In the event that the grievant, the Association and the District have not resolved the grievance with the assistance of the mediator within ten

(10) workdays from the first meeting held with the mediator, the Association may terminate Step III, and the grievance may proceed to Step IV. Timelines may be extended by mutual agreement in order to reach resolution.

4.8.4 Step IV – Superintendent

- (a) If the grievant is not satisfied with the decision rendered at Step II, or if the Director/Administrator fails to respond within the time limits provided pursuant to Step II, the grievant or his/her representative may submit the grievance in writing to the Superintendent or his/her designee.
- (b) The written grievance shall be submitted on a form prescribed by the District and approved by the Association.
- (c) The grievance must be submitted within ten (10) workdays following the conclusion of mediation, or ten (10) workdays following the Director's/Administrator's failure to respond within the prescribed time limits.
- (d) The Superintendent or his/her designee shall investigate the grievance as fully as deemed necessary. Upon request by either party, a conference shall be conducted for the purpose of reviewing the grievance.
- (e) The Superintendent or his/her designee shall respond within ten (10) workdays of submission of the grievance at Step IV or if a Step IV conference is conducted within ten (10) workdays of the conference. That response shall state the Superintendent's view of the facts and his/her conclusion respecting the contention of the grievant on appeal. A copy of the written response to the grievance shall be sent to the grievant and his/her representative.

4.8.5 Step V - Arbitration

- (a) If the grievant is not satisfied with the Superintendent's or his/her designee's response at Step IV, or if the response is not submitted within agreed time limits, the grievant may, within ten (10) workdays of receipt of the Superintendent's decision or his/her failure to respond within agreed time limits, request in writing that the Association submit the grievance to arbitration. The Association, by written notice to the Superintendent or his/her designee within ten (10) workdays after receipt of the request from the grievant, may submit the grievance to arbitration.
- (b) The arbitrator shall have no power to add to, or delete, or amend the terms of this agreement.
- An arbitrator shall be selected by mutual agreement. If the parties are unable to agree on an arbitrator, the following procedure will be used: A representative of the grievant and the Board's representative shall select an arbitrator from the California State Conciliation Services' or

The American Arbitration Association list of five (5) names by eliminating names until one (1) name remains. The first option of elimination shall be determined by lot. The one remaining name shall be the arbitrator. The process of striking names shall occur within ten (10) workdays of receipt of the list by both parties.

- (d) The decision of the arbitrator shall be submitted to the District and the Association and shall be final and binding upon the parties to this contract.
- (e) The fees of the arbitrator and related costs shall be borne by the District and the Association equally.
- 4.9 Association Grievance.

The Association may file a grievance on its own behalf or on behalf of a unit member(s). The Association agrees to provide sufficient information to allow the District to investigate and respond to the grievance. If the alleged violation is not caused by a site-level decision, the grievance may be filed at Step II.

ARTICLE 5

5. HOURS AND OVERTIME

5.1 <u>Workweek</u>

- 5.1.1 The workweek of a member having an average workday of four (4) hours or more shall consist of no more than forty (40) hours over five (5) consecutive workdays.
 - (a) With the employee's approval, the District may establish an alternative work week which shall not exceed 80 hours over a two-calendar week period.
 - (b) An "alternative work week" schedule is a fixed work schedule other than standard work hours which include, but are not limited to, four (4) consecutive ten (10) hour days, or nine-hour-per-day, 80 hour-per-twoweek schedules.
 - (c) Upon mutual agreement of the employee and the employer, flexible work hours may be established. "Flexible work hours" allows for a change of the work schedule on a day-by-day basis that may not extend the employee's total daily appointment.
- 5.1.2 The workweek of a member having an average workday of less than four (4) hours shall consist of no more than forty (40) hours over a maximum period of six (6) consecutive days.
- 5.1.3 The District may establish a workweek of less than five (5) days or less than forty (40) hours for any of its positions. Should the District establish that an existing position's hours should be reduced, they will meet to negotiate with CSEA prior to implementation.
- 5.1.4 This Article must not restrict the extension of the regular workday or workweek on an overtime basis when such is necessary to carry on the business of the District, except as provided for in section 5.9.
- 5.2 Workday

The District and CSEA agree that providing on-boarding services for new employees to the district is a best practice. In the event that the district is unable to provide on-boarding services, the district agrees to communicate that decision with CSEA within 48 hours of a decision being made.

Workday

The workday shall be a maximum of eight (8) hours [except as identified in Section 5.1.1(a)(b)(c)] and a minimum of four (4) hours except that members in the classifications listed below may be assigned a workday of less than four (4) hours over a maximum of five (5) consecutive days:

Instructional Assistant Instructional Assistant II Instructional Assistant III Instructional Assistant Multi-Severely Handicapped Instructional Assistant Ortho/Visually Impaired Non-Instructional Support Aide Instructional Assistant – Deaf and Hard of Hearing Instructional Assistant – Computer Lab Bilingual Assistant Campus Monitor Campus Representative Intermediate Clerk Typist College and Career Technician Interpreter – Sign Language Interpreter Clerk (School sites only) Child Development Assistant – School Age Child Development Assistant – Infant Toddler\Preschool School Site Technology Support Assistant

- 5.2.1 Shifts
 - (a) It is the intent of this section, as far as possible, to allow employees to work the shifts they were hired to work.
 - (b) Definition Second shift shall be defined as positions with regularly scheduled work hours between 3:00 p.m. and 10:59 p.m. Third shift shall be defined as positions with regular work hours between 11:00 p.m. and 6:59 a.m. Any member whose shift occurs 50% or more in the second or third shift defined hours shall be considered working in that shift.
 - (c) The District will seek voluntary reassignments before reassigning employees to a different shift. If an insufficient number of employees volunteer, the reassignment will be accomplished in reverse seniority order. Except in emergency situations, employees subject to an involuntary reassignment will be given ten (10) workdays advance written notice. In the event an employee has been reassigned to another shift within the same program and/or department and a day position becomes available within that same program and/or department, he/she shall have the option of returning to the day shift in seniority order within the same program and/or department.
 - (d) Employees shall not be involuntarily reassigned to more than one shift change within a fifteen-day workday period.
 - (e) Shift changes shall be based on District need, and not for punitive or arbitrary reasons.

5.2.2 Hours

- (a) It is the intent of this section, as far as possible, to allow employees to work the hours they were hired to work.
- (b) The length of the workday shall be designated by the District for each classified position. Each bargaining unit member shall be assigned regular starting and ending times by the District. Such times shall not be changed without a minimum of 10 workdays prior notice, except in cases of District need and/or a bonafide

emergency. A change in an employee's start and end times greater than 30 minutes is subject to negotiations with CSEA.

- (c) When there are two or more employees with the same profile and hours at the same site and in the same department, the District will seek voluntary reassignments before reassigning employees to different hours. If an insufficient number of employees volunteer, the reassignment will be accomplished in reverse seniority order.
- (d) Changes in hours shall be based on District need, and not for punitive or arbitrary reasons.
- (e) Employees shall not be involuntarily reassigned to more than one change in hours within a fifteen-day workday period.

5.3 Adjustment of Assigned Time

Any member who works a minimum of thirty (30) minutes or more per day in excess of his/her regular part-time assignment for a periodof twenty (20) consecutive work days or more shall have his/her regular assignment adjusted upward to reflect the longer hours, effective with the next pay period.

5.4 Increase in Hours

When the regular work hours of a part-time position are increased, the incumbent in the position shall be offered the opportunity to remain in the position and accept the increased hours in the position. If the incumbent refuses to accept the increased hours, he/she shall be transferred to another position offering the same status of his/her present assignment. If through this method a transfer can be affected that is mutually acceptable to another qualified member in the same classification, it shall be accomplished. If the District is unable to affect a mutually acceptable transfer through this method, the member refusing the increase in hours shall be placed on a re-employment list and the position shall be declared vacant.

5.5 Salary Adjustment Reassignment

Members shall not be required to perform duties which are not fixed and prescribed for the position by the governing board unless the duties reasonably relate to those fixed for the position by the board for any period of time which exceeds four (4) workdays within a thirty (30) day calendar day period except as authorized herein.

5.5.1 An employee may be required to perform duties inconsistent with those assigned to the position by the governing board for a period of more than four (4) workdays within a thirty (30) day calendar period provided that the employee's salary is adjusted upward for the entire period they are directed to work in an assignment requiring a higher rate of pay. Such opportunities shall be offered on a rotation basis to eligible members within each work site, within shift. If practicable, opportunities also will be offered in order of class seniority.

- 5.5.2 Upon verification by the Classified Human Resources Department, the employee's salary will be adjusted upward for the entire period required to work out of class in an amount equal to the first step of the higher salary range or in an amount which provides an increase of one (1) step above the employee's present salary range, whichever is greater.
 - 5.5.2.1 If the Classified Human Resources Department determines that a member was working in a higher classification not included in the unit his/her salary will be adjusted upwards by ten percent (10%) for the period during which the member has worked out of his/her regular assignment.
- 5.5.3 Classified employees shall not be required to perform duties which are not fixed and prescribed for the position by the Governing Board in accordance with Section 45109, unless the duties reasonably relate to those fixed for the position by the Board, for any period of time which exceeds five working days within a 15-calendar-day period except as authorized herein.

An employee may be required to perform duties inconsistent with those assigned to the position by the Governing Board for a period of more than five working days provided that his/her salary is adjusted upward for the entire period he/she is required to work out of classification and in such amounts as will reasonably reflect the duties required to be performed outside his/her normal assigned duties.

5.6 Meal Periods

Members assigned a regular workday of five (5) or more consecutive hours shall be allowed a duty-free meal period of not less than thirty (30) minutes, and not more than one (1) hour, preferably at the midpoint of the work shift. If, because of work necessity, a member is directed to perform services, including attending meetings during the meal period, it shall be counted as "on duty" and counted as time worked. Members shall perform service during their meal period only when directed by their supervisor. Meal periods may not be waived in order to leave work early.

5.7 <u>Rest Periods</u>

All members shall be granted rest periods which, insofar as practical, shall be in the middle of each four (4) hour work period, at the rate of fifteen (15) minutes for four (4) hours worked. The immediate supervisor shall determine when the rest period shall be taken.

5.8 Voting Time Off

If a member's work schedule is such that it does not allow sufficient time to vote in any federal, state, or local election in which the member is entitled to vote, the District shall arrange to allow a maximum of two (2) hours for such voting by the member, without loss of pay.

5.9 <u>Overtime</u>

5.9.1 Overtime is defined to include any time worked in excess of eight (8) hours in any one day or eight (8) hours on any one (1) shift or in excess of forty (40) hours in any calendar week [except as identified in Section 5.1.1(a)(b)(c)]. Additionally, a member regularly assigned a workday of four

(4) or more hours per day shall be compensated for the overtime worked at the overtime rate for all work performed on the sixth (6th) or seventh (7th) day following commencement of his/her workweek. Members assigned a workday of less than four (4) hours per day shall be compensated at the overtime rate for all work performed on the seventh (7th) day worked following commencement of his/her workweek.

5.9.2 Members shall be entitled to the paid holidays specified in Article 8 or designated subsequent holiday(s) in lieu of the original holiday provided they are in a paid status during any portion of the workday immediately preceding or succeeding the holiday. When a member is required to work any of the specified holidays, he/she shall be paid his/her regular pay for the holiday. In addition, he/she shall be paid or given compensatory time off for such work at the rate of one and one-half times his/her regular rate of pay for hours worked on that holiday.

5.10 Compensatory Time Off (CTO)

Compensatory Time is defined to include any time worked in excess of eight (8) hours in any one (1) day or eight (8) hours on any (1) shift or in excess of forty (40) hours in any calendar week [except as identified in Section 5.1.1(a)(b)(c)]. When overtime is authorized to be worked, the member has the choice between compensatory time off or cash compensation.

The member's choice to accumulate CTO in lieu of cash compensation shall be recorded ontheir overtime timecard, which shall be tracked by the supervisor, the employee and the payroll department. The CTO balance shall appear on the employee's pay stub along with vacation and sick leave balances.

Compensatory time can accumulate to a maximum of 40 hours and shall be granted within the fiscal year without impairing the services rendered by the district. If, due to operational needs, it is found the CTO balance cannot be used within the fiscal year without impairing theservices of the District, the member will be paid out their CTO time no later than August 31st of the following fiscal year. CTO use shall not be unreasonably denied. If advance notice is given by the member, lack of a substitute shall never be a reasonable justification for denying CTO use.

5.11 <u>Overtime Distribution</u>

Planned overtime shall be distributed on a rotation basis to eligible members within each work location, within shift, in order of class seniority, unless otherwise specified herein:

- 5.11.1 Members located on the job site where the overtime is available will be given first preference within their department.
- 5.11.2 Extended day work assignments.
- 5.11.3 Emergency overtime.

5.12 <u>Minimum Call-In Time</u>

Members called in to work on a day when the member is not scheduled to work shall receive a minimum of three (3) hours at the appropriate rate of pay.

5.13 Right of Refusal

Immediately upon determining overtime work is required, the supervisor shall so notify

affected members. Such notification shall be no later than 90 minutes prior to the end of the member's shift. Any member who does not desire to work overtime shall inform the supervisor. If, after looking at all alternatives available in the urgent nature of overtime work, the supervisor may require the least senior available employee in the needed classification, at the same site/department, to work overtime.

5.14 Standby Time

All standby¹ time shall be considered as hours worked and shall be compensated on a straight time or overtime rate as appropriate to the terms of this Agreement.

5.15 Call Back Time

A member having left his/her job site after completion of the regular shift assignment, and having been called back to work, shall be guaranteed a minimum of three (3) hours work to be compensated on a straight time or overtime basis as appropriate to the terms of this Agreement.

5.16 Hours Worked

For purposes of computing the number of hours worked under this Article, time during which a member is excused from work because of holiday, sick leave, vacation, compensatory time off or other paid leave of absence shall be considered as time worked for the member.

5.17 Extra Hours

- 5.17.1 "Primary position" is defined as the position held by the employee at the time the additional position is applied for or offered pursuant to Article 11.4.2. These additional positions shall be limited to those listed in Article 5.2.
- 5.17.2 An employee whose primary position alone does not qualify him/her for benefits under Article 7, shall not acquire benefits under that article by virtue of this second position. Employees shall be eligible to receive on a pro rata basis sick leave, vacation, holiday and seniority credit.
- 5.17.3 For the purposes of layoff only, the employee shall acquire seniority in the second position based on the employee's hire date in the second position.
- 5.17.4 Should the primary position and additional position be at different work sites/locations, the employee shall not be paid travel time or mileage.
- 5.17.5 It is understood that the intent of this program is to provide employees the opportunity to earn additional hours, without hampering the District's operations and current flexibility, or incurring increased costs.
- 5.17.6 The sum total of the primary and secondary positions cannot exceed eight (8) hours in any one working day.
- 5.17.7 Any classified personnel who agree to provide additional services outside of their calendared work hours shall be compensated at their regular hourly

¹ Standby Time is defined as: Time during a member's scheduled work hours when, because of lack of materials, work-relatedactivities/inactivity, at District direction, a member is required to remain at his/her work site or duty location and unable to engage in individual pursuits

rate (with overtime calculated if applicable) or offered Compensatory Time Off per Article 5.10. The implementation of this article shall not negatively impact classified employees' access to these opportunities. Additionally, the District shall not supplant these opportunities through the use of volunteers.

- 5.18 <u>On Call</u> 5.18.1 Employees shall be considered to be on-call for purposes of this section, anytime they are not normally scheduled to work and are required to be available for service.
 - 5.18.2 A monthly schedule shall be posted listing on-call personnel. Changes in the schedule must be approved by the supervisor.
 - 5.18.3 Recess periods (e.g., Winter Break) may be divided among the employees within the department or division, unless there is a volunteer.
 - 5.18.4 On-call pay shall be 14% of the regular hourly wage per on-call hour.
 - 5.18.5 The scheduling shall be done strictly on a rotational basis. The on-call roster may include all personnel assigned to the department or division.
 - 5.18.6 Call-in pay shall be handled in accordance with Section 5.15 and will be in addition to on-call pay.
 - 5.18.7 The on-call person(s) shall have the use of a District provided cellular telephone during the period of time he/she is on call for the purpose of notification of a call-in.

5.19 Duties Inconsistent with Assigned Position

When an individual believes they are performing duties inconsistent with those assigned to the position by the governing board they may submit a request for a position review after consultation with CSEA and the District. The District and CSEA will jointly develop updates to the position review form as needed.

The parties agree that the purpose of a position review is to evaluate whether a member is working within the assigned duties of their classification. The District and CSEA agree that it is not their intent for the position review to circumvent salary negotiations that take place during scheduled bargaining cycles.

Upon receipt of the position review request by the Human Resources Department, the district will have ninety (90) calendar days to complete the position review. The parties agree that the district will be provided a forty-five (45) calendar day extension upon written request.

In the event the District's position review finds that an employee is working out of their classification and should be placed in a different, existing classification that receives a higher rate of pay, the salary/range adjustment shall be paid retroactively to the date the position review was first submitted.

In the event the District's position review finds that an employee is working out of their

classification, but no appropriate job classification exists within the District, the District and CSEA will negotiate either:

- The creation of a new job classification, or
- Which duties and responsibilities should be removed from the member's current assignment.

5.20 Collaboration Release Time

CSEA members based at a school site shall have thirty (30) minutes of release time monthly for site based instructional classified staff to be able to attend collaboration with their peers to improve communication for improving student learning and achievement. This thirty minutes will be scheduled by the site principal during a member's regular calendared hours on a site's early out Thursday. (Note: General Unit Only)

ARTICLE 6

6. SALARY

6.1 <u>Salaries</u> 2024-2025 school year:

All base salaries and shift differential (Article 6.2.2) for the General and Operations units shall be increased by a total of 5%, effective July 1, 2024.

- The new salary schedule will be reflected in members' pay no later than August 31, 2024.
- The retroactive check for the salary schedules shall be paid no later than September 30, 2024.

"Hard-to-Staff" Classified Salary Adjustments:

The parties agree that many classifications continue to experience high rates of vacancies and turnover. Effective July 1, 2024, the following classifications will be designated "hard-to-staff" and will receive an additional salary increase (in addition to the 5% across-the-board increase referenced above):

- Additional 8%:
 - Nutrition Services Worker I
 - o Nutrition Services Worker II
- Additional 5%:
 - o Custodian
 - Lead Custodian
 - Elementary Head Custodian
 - Middle School Head Custodian
 - Instructional Assistant Deaf and Hard-of-Hearing
 - o Instructional Assistant Orthopedic/Visual Impaired
 - Instructional Assistant II
 - Instructional Assistant Multiple/Severe Handicap
 - Instructional Assistant III
 - o Sign Language Interpreter
 - o Speech and Language Pathology Assistant
- Additional 3%:
 - o Campus Monitor
 - Campus Representative
 - Bilingual Translator, Arabic
 - Bilingual Translator, Dari
 - o Bilingual Translator, Farsi
 - Bilingual Translator, Pashto
 - Bilingual Translator, Russian
 - Bilingual Translator, Spanish
 - Bilingual Translator, Ukrainian
 - Groundskeeper/Gardener
 - Grounds Equipment Operator
 - Athletic Fields Technician

- Instructional Assistant Bilingual: Arabic
- Instructional Assistant Bilingual: Dari
- Instructional Assistant Bilingual: Farsi
- Instructional Assistant Bilingual: Pashto
- Instructional Assistant Bilingual: Russian
- Instructional Assistant Bilingual: Spanish
- Instructional Assistant Bilingual: Ukrainian

The District and CSEA will renegotiate the "hard-to-staff" list every three years (the first round will take place in advance of the 2027-28 school year) including but not limited to, additions, removals, and adjustments to any additional compensation. Once a member receives "hard-to-staff" compensation as part of their income, it will remain a part of their salary until they leave that classification (even if that classification is removed from the list in a future year).

Instructional Assistant I: Before the 2025-26 school year, when one-time funds are set to expire, CSEA and the District will jointly evaluate Instructional Assistant I recruitment and retention needs.

<u>Child Development Assistant (all classifications)</u>: During the term of this contract, CSEA and the District will jointly review the multi-year budget projections of the Early Childhood Education (ECE) department and evaluate recruitment and retention needs.

2025-26 school year:

Effective July 1, 2025, an additional step (Step 7) will be added to both the General and Operations units' salary schedules Step 7 will equal 4.63%.

Contingency Language: 2024-2025 School Year:

The parties agree to reopen Article 6 for bargaining when on or any combination of the following conditions are met:

- If the enacted California 2024-25 State Budget COLA is funded at a level less than 0.5% and not augmentation is provided to offset the loss of revenue, both parties agree to revisit the potential impact on the multiyear financial health of the District and examine potential cost saving measures.
- If the enacted California 2024-25 State Budget COLA is funded at a level in excess of f1.5% or there is an augmentation to the COLA resulting in an increase of revenues beyond the 1.5% the District and CSEA agree to examine potential enhancements to the salary schedule for Year 2 or Year 3.

Contingency Language 2025-26 School Year:

- If the enacted California 2025-26 State Budget COLA is funded at a level less than 1.73% and no augmentation is provided to offset the loss of revenue, both parties agree to revisit the potential impact on the multiyear financial health of the District and examine potential cost saving measures.
- If the enacted California 2025-26 State Budget COLA is funded at a level in excess of 3.73%, or there is an augmentation to the COLA resulting in an increase of revenues beyond the 3.73% the District and CSEA agree to examine potential enhancements to the salary schedule for Year 3.

6.2 Other Adjustments

6.2.1 Longevity Pay

CSEA has an interest in discussing the role longevity plays in retaining qualified and experienced employees. Therefore, the parties agree that Article 6 may be opened during the 2019-2020 bargaining cycle.

6.2.2 Shift Differential

Second Shift (3:00 pm-10:59 pm): Additional 36¢ Per Hour. The Shift Differential Rate shall be adjusted in accordance with any on-going salary increase.

Third Shift (11:00 pm- 6:59 am): Additional 42¢ Per Hour. The Shift Differential Rate shall be adjusted in accordance with any on-going salary increase.

- 6.2.3 A member who is promoted shall be moved to the step on the new salary range which is not less than a 5% increase in the members base salary (not including "hard-to-staff" differential) and based on the same standards of placement for outside hires. Shift differential shall be included in an employee's base salary for purposes of calculating the placement.
- 6.2.4 Add a 3 ½ % professional growth Step for CDA's who get 100 hours of education after 7/1/02.
 - 6.2.4.1 Applicable only to CDA's on step 6 (professional growth step will be 7th step).
 - 6.2.4.2 100 hrs. must be pre-approved by supervisor to be regarded as qualifying for professional growth (in other words, class/units/hours must be pre-approved and pre-approved for professional growth credit).

6.3 Lost Checks

Any paycheck for a member which is not delivered within five (5) days if mailed in the U.S. mail and three (3) days if mailed in the District mail shall be replaced, if possible, within three (3) workdays but in no case later than seven (7) workdays after the member provides written notification to the District's Payroll Department of such circumstances. This replacement check shall be for the net amount of the undelivered check.

6.4 Payroll Errors

Whenever it is determined that an error has been made in calculation or reporting in any member's payroll or in the payment of any member's salary, the District shall, within five (5) workdays following such determination, provide the member with a statement of the correction and a supplemental payment drawn against any available funds

6.5 Personal Property Loss- Reimbursement

The District shall reimburse members for personal effects damaged in the performance of duties, provided such damage occurs as a result of an action of someone other than the member or of a circumstance for which the school District is responsible. Personal effects shall be defined as those articles pertaining to one's own person which may include but not be limited to eyeglasses, contact lenses, hearing aids, dentures, watches or articles of clothing. The District will replace other damaged or lost personal property provided:

- 6.5.1 The use of the property has been mutually agreed upon by the immediate supervisor and the employee.
- 6.5.2 The property has been registered with the Department Administrator.
- 6.5.3 Reasonable provision has been mutually made for the security of the property.
- 6.5.4 The District will not assume that portion of personal property loss covered by private insurance carriers.
- 6.5.5 The District shall provide employees copies of the form(s) necessary to register personal property under this section.

6.6 <u>Member Travel</u>

- 6.6.1 Members who may be required to use their own auto in performance of their duties and members who are assigned to more than one (1) work site shall bereimbursed at a rate in accordance with the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) mileage reimbursement rate for:
 - (a) Travel between Work Sites
 - (b) Meetings or Activities Assigned by the District
 - (c) Other Work-Related Responsibilities
- 6.6.2 Reimbursement for mileage will be for miles actually driven and must be approved in advance by the member's site/program administrator or designee.
- 6.6.3 One-way mileage to meetings or activities within the District shall not exceed 25 miles.

6.7 Newly Created Jobs

When a new job classification is established by the District, the District will, after giving written notification to the CSEA Labor Representative and its Chapter #127 President, establish a salary range for the new job classification which shall be considered temporary. If no objection to the established salary range thus set is registered in writing with the Director of Human Resources (Classified) by CSEA within twenty (20) workdays after the temporary salary range has been set, such salary range shall become permanent.

6.7.1 <u>Established Positions</u>: When the District determines that a job classification needs to be reviewed, the District shall be responsible for making modifications to the job description and shall then notify the Association of the change in the job description. Any request to negotiate wages, hours, or

working conditions of the job classification review must be submitted in writing to the other party within twenty (20) workdays of notice of change. The parties agree that the Association is entitled to periodic updates regarding the status of job classification reviews.

6.8 Instructional Assistant (IA) Additional Compensation

The intent of this Article is to compensate specific Instructional Assistants noted in 6.8.1 that are assigned to the District's Special Day Classes designated for students identified with mild/moderate or moderate/severe disabilities when a teacher is absent from the class for an entire day and there is no substitute teacher available to cover the class for an entire day.

- 6.8.1 The following is only applicable to Instructional Assistant IIs (IA II), Instructional Assistant IIIs (IA III), Instructional Assistant Orthopedic Impairment/Visual Impairment (IA OI/VI), Instructional Assistant – Multi-Severely Handicapped (IA-MSH), and Instructional Assistant Deaf and Hard of Hearing (IA DHOH) assigned to the District's Special Education Programs designated for students identified with mild/moderate or moderate/severe disabilities. These programs include the following at both the elementary and secondary level:
 - Mild/Moderate Non-Categorical Special Day Classes
 - Mild/Moderate Special Day Classes for Students Diagnosed with Autism Spectrum Disorders
 - Mild Moderate Therapeutic Learning Classes
 - Moderate/Severe Independent Living Skills Classes
 - Moderate/Severe Special Day Classes for Students Diagnosed with Autism Spectrum Disorders
 - (a) When a teacher is absent from the class for two or more hours a day in an elementary class, or one or more periods in a secondary class and there is no substitute teacher available to cover the class, the IAs in these classifications who are regularly assigned to that classroom, and remain in that classroom for the full duration of the absence, shall be paid an additional \$18 an hour, up to \$108 per day, to compensate for additional duties and responsibilities they would be expected to assume as a result of the teacher's absence.
- 6.8.2 This additional hourly rate shall not apply when students in the class without a substitute are reassigned to another classroom with a teacher for the day.
- 6.8.3 It is the responsibility of the Instructional Assistant (IA) to document these hours on a District approved timecard. These timecards must be submitted by the IA and verified and signed by the principal or designated site administrator.

In no event shall the differential be lower than \$18.00/hour. Additionally, an increase in the compensation for guest/substitute teachers shall immediately reopen this article for negotiation.

Beginning July 1, 2024, new contractual caseload/classroom maximums for

certificated Special Education service providers go into effect. In the 2024-25 and 2025-26 school year only, the parties agree to increase the hourly additional compensation, using one-time funds, by an additional \$3.00 per hour (on top of the differential described earlier in this article) for the classified instructional staff due compensation outlined in this article when caseload/classroom maximums are exceeded. The purpose of this additional compensation is to acknowledge the impact to working conditions to classified staff who are providing services to students in settings exceeding new certificated contractual caseload/classroom maximums.

6.8.4 General Education Instructional Assistants

The District and CSEA mutually agree to expand guest teaching opportunities to eligible CSEA unit members in the following classifications:

- Instructional Assistant I (IA I)
- Instructional Assistant Bilingual (IA-BIA)
- Child Development Assistant (CDA) who serve the ECE Preschool and school age/Discovery Club programs
- (a) Eligibility: This voluntary opportunity is open to:
 - 1. Instructional Assistant Is (IA Is); Instructional Assistants-Bilingual (IA-BIAs); and Child Development Assistants (CDAs) serving the ECE Preschool and Discovery Club programs who:
 - a. Provide evidence that the employee holds a Bachelor's degree. Employees will need to provide official transcripts to Human Resources.
 - b. Provide evidence of basic skills: Pass the CBEST or completed writing, reading and math course at the college level.
- (b) Selection and Placement Process: To submit interest and availability, and verify eligibility, members in this classification must:
 - 1. Complete a Google form distributed by Human Resources.
 - 2. Send official transcripts to Human Resources
 - Complete fingerprinting for the Commission on Teacher Credentialing (CTC) and complete credential paperwork with Human Resources.
- 4. Attend a guest teacher orientation scheduled by Human Resources.
- (c) Compensation:
 - 1. All members who are Instructional Assistants and who are selected and placed in guest teaching positions will be paid an additional \$18 an hour, up to \$108 per day.
 - 2. The District will reimburse employees for any applicable state credentialing application and processing fees.
- (d) Guest Teacher Service:
 - 1. Eligible employees can only serve as a guest teacher at the site they are assigned and shall not be asked to serve as a guest teacher for more than 2 days per week, except in circumstances that have been approved in advance by Human Resources.
 - a. The following provision only applies when Human Resources has approved in advance a member serving as a guest teacher

more than 2 days per week:

- i. Members who work 15 days or more during the pay period of Sept/October, January/February, March/April or April/May, these members will be paid an additional \$4 an hour, up to \$24 a day.
- 6.9 <u>Occupational Therapist</u> Equity Hours:
 - 6.9.1 Beginning with the 2015-2016 school year, Occupational Therapists shall be given a pro-rated share of sixteen (16) hours per work year free of their regular duties for preparing and planning reports, reviewing and adjusting treatments, program therapy, preparing and adjusting the IEPs or therapy, and documenting student progress notes and goals. The equity hours shall be taken in hourly increments (never 8 hours in one block) with notification and prior approval from his/her supervisor.
 - 6.9.2 When the member's worksite or other equally suitable space is unavailable during these planning and preparation hours, members may work at an alternate location in order to complete their work. The immediate supervisor must be notified in advance and approve of the work location and the member must be available via phone during the member's regularly scheduled contracted hours.
 - 6.9.3 In the 2024-25 school year, the District and CSEA will pilot an Occupational Therapist Leadership Team, whose primary responsibility will be to examine caseloads, working conditions, and staffing standards. Up to three (3) Occupational Therapists will serve on this one-year pilot team. The Director of Special Education, or designee, will also serve as a member.
 - By September 30, 2024, the parties agree to complete a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) that outlines the selection process, terms, and roles and responsibilities of Occupational Therapist Leadership Team members during the one-year pilot.
 - (b) CSEA bargaining unit members who are selected to serve on the one-year pilot of the Occupational Therapist Leadership Team will receive a one-time \$1,500 bonus in the 2024-25 school year only, using one-time funds.

6.10 Bilingual Services Program

During 2017-2019 the district and association implemented a Bilingual Services Pilot that compensated clerical staff, who, in addition to their regular duties were frequently called upon to speak, read and interpret a non-English language, or to converse fluently in a non-English language. The District agrees to make this pilot permanent effective July 1, 2020. The maximum number of participants shall be determined by a demonstrated need using both qualitative and quantitative data presented (including available budgetary resources), discussed, and agreed upon between the District and Association, no fewer than once annually on or before November 1 of each year. Employees identified for this program will be paid a Bilingual Differential equal to the Second Shift Differential in Article 6.2.2

Qualified employees shall no longer be restricted to clerical classifications and shall be identified by (1) taking a proficiency exam mutually agreed upon by the Association and the District (identified no later than October 30, 2024) and (2) getting the approved special assignment paperwork submitted with the assistance of their supervisor.

Should the District determine that budgetary resources require a reduction in the number of identified employees at a worksite, the parties will refer to 15.2.1. Order of Layoff Procedures wherein seniority is determined by the submission of the employee's approved special assignment paperwork.

7. FRINGE BENEFITS

7.1 <u>Medical, Dental, and Vision Plans</u>

The District will provide an IRC Section 125 Flexible Fringe Benefits Plan (Section 125) to all eligible employees. A Section 125 plan will provide reimbursement of certain unreimbursed medical and dependent care expenses and will permit the payment of certain group health premiums on a pretax basis.

7.1.1 Employees in regular assignments of twenty (20) hours per week or more are eligible for enrollment in District group health benefits.

Note: Employees in regular assignments of less than twenty (20) hours per week who were hired prior to February 14, 1989, will receive half (50%) of the District contribution for health benefits. Employees hired after February 14, 1989, who work less than twenty hours per week shall not be entitled to District group health benefits.

- (a) District to pay the premium cost of the highest HMO for employeeonly coverage.
- (b) The District contribution for dependent medical coverage shall be increased to 75%.
- (c) If an employee provides proof of other medical coverage and does not wish to enroll in a District sponsored medical plan, the employee may elect to receive \$1,552 annually in lieu of medical insurance to be applied to other qualified insurance benefits, or cash, as approved by the District.
- (d) Hearing Aid Benefit Beginning with the benefits plan period effective January 1, 2016, the district shall provide a hearing aid benefit for employees and dependents. The parties agree that the \$1,900 allowance level will be the maximum plan allowance level as long as that plan option is available by current providers under similar terms as currently offered.
- 7.1.2 <u>Dental</u> The District will contribute the premium amount (employee only) for a Delta Dental (self-insured) PPO plan for each employee.
 - (a) If an employee wishes to enroll in the District sponsored Dental HMO plan which provides family coverage, the employee may elect to receive a premium amount not to exceed the Delta Dental (selfinsured) PPO premium (employee only) for each employee.
 - (b) The yearly dental cap will be \$1,500. The yearly dental cap for dental services provided by a participating PPO dentist will be \$1,600.
- 7.1.3 If an employee wishes to enroll in the District sponsored buy up vision plan,

which permits coverage for eligible dependents, the employee will be responsible for paying the full cost of this coverage for their dependents, as well as any additional premium for their own buy up plan coverage.

- 7.1.4 <u>Life Insurance</u> The District will contribute the premium amount (employee only) for the District approved \$50,000 life insurance plan.
- 7.2 Premium Payment for Leaves

For purposes of this section, all insurance programs shall include medical, dental, vision, and other premiums provided as member options.

- 7.2.1 Paid Leave Premium Payment During the period a member is on a paid leave, the District shall continue payment of all insurance premiums for which the member has authorized coverage.
- 7.2.2. Unpaid Leave Premium Payment During the period a member is on an unpaid leave, he/she may pay all insurance premiums directly to the District, and the District shall remit such premiums to the program providers.
- 7.2.3 Continuance of Dependent Benefits on Death of Employee If an employee who has selected District payment of all or part of the cost of dependent medical and dental coverage dies before retiring, full dependent coverage for a period of one year shall be continued by the District for all dependent survivors who have been enrolled in District approved fringe benefit programs. If a deceased employee is eligible (both parties are District employees) and enrolled with an in-District coverage rate tier at the time of death, the full dependent coverage for a period of one year shall be continued by the District for all dependent survivors who have been enrolled and associated with (tied to by marriage or domestic partnership) the in-District coverage rate tier for medical and dental coverage. This provision is subject to insurance carrier or benefit provider approval.

7.3 Physical Examinations

- 7.3.1 Examinations for tuberculosis will be required every four (4) years. Such examinations and release time for such examinations shall be paid for by the District.
- 7.3.2 The District shall provide for any physical examinations required for the member which is a condition of continued employment without cost to the member. This section shall not apply to pre-employment physical examinations which are a condition of initial employment.
- 7.4 <u>Joint Committee</u>

The District and the California School Employees Association Chapter #127 are committed to providing cost-effective, quality health care benefits. The California School Employees Association Chapter #127 agrees to participate in a District-wide joint management and multiple bargaining unit committee established for the purpose of annually reviewing District-wide health, dental, and vision care costs, and recommending cost containment measures. The objectives of this committee are to create competitive advantages in the health care marketplace through large-scale group participation, utilization of effective administrative practices and development of positive collaborative organizational relationships.

8. HOLIDAYS

8.1 <u>Holidays</u>

All members shall be granted the following paid holidays provided the member was in paid status during any portion of his/her regular workday of his/her regular assignment immediately preceding or succeeding the holiday.

Actual holiday dates may be found on the district website

- Independence Day Labor Day Veteran's Day Thanksgiving Local Holiday Christmas Day Winter Recess Winter Recess Winter Recess Winter Recess New Year's Day Martin Luther King Day Presidents' Day Lincoln's Day Local Holiday Memorial Day Juneteenth
- 8.1.1 Any other day designated and approved by the Board of Education.
- 8.2 Operations of this Article

Operation of this Article shall not result in the loss of paid vacation time due to the member.

8.3 School Year Calendar

The District agrees to work with CSEA from the beginning of the development of the school year calendar. The District shall consider CSEA input prior to final adoption of the school calendar by the Board of Education.

9. VACATIONS

9.1 <u>Eligibility</u>

All members shall earn paid vacation time under this Article. Vacation benefits are earned on a fiscal year basis--July 1 through June 30.

9.2 Accumulation

The chart showing current vacation allowances for members is shown below.

		ion Accrual Rates ed in days per yea				
	Years of Service					
Work Year Calendar	0 – 3 years	4 – 10 years	11 plus years			
1 (12 months)	12 days	16 days	20 days			
12 (10 months)	10.02 days	13.36 days	16.70 days			
13 (9.5 months)	9.75 days	13.00 days	16.25 days			
14 (9.5 months	9.61 days	12.81 days	16.02 days			
16 (10.5 months)	10.53 days	14.04 days	17.55 days			
17 (9 months)	9.43 days	12.57 days	15.71 days			
18 (9 months)	9.47 days	12.63 days	15.79 days			
19 (9 months)	9.52 days	12.69 days	15.86 days			
20 (9 months)	9.29 days	12.38 days	15.48 days			
21 (11 months)	10.99 days	14.65 days	18.31 days			
22 (11 months)	11.26 days	15.02 days	18.77 days			
38 (9 months)	9.47 days	12.63 days	15.79 days			

- 9.2.1 Years of creditable service need not be continuous.
- 9.2.2 Vacation leave for less than full-time employees shall be computed proportionately.
- 9.2.3 Only periods of regular employment or paid leaves of absence shall be included in the calculations of years of service. No unpaid leaves of absence shall be credited.
- 9.2.4 The District shall provide vacation balances for unit members on members' regular checks within the capabilities of the District computer system.

9.3 Vacation Pay

Pay for vacation days for all members shall be the same as that which the memberwould have received had he/she been in a working status.

9.4 Vacation Pay Upon Termination

When a member is terminated for any reason, he/she shall be entitled to all vacation pay earned and accumulated up to and including the effective date of the termination.

9.5 Vacation Postponement

- 9.5.1 If a member's vacation becomes due during a period when he/she is on leave due to illness or injury, he/she may request that his/her vacation date be changed, and the District shall grant such request in accordance with vacation dates available at that time. The member may elect to have his/her vacation rescheduled in accordance with the vacation schedule available at that time or may request to carry over his/her vacation to the following year, or he/she may elect to receive compensation for all vacation earned and accumulated during the fiscal year.
- 9.6 <u>Vacation Carry-Over</u>
 - 9.6.1 Members shall not accrue vacation in excess of that earned during the preceding 24 months.
 - 9.6.2 Members are encouraged to use vacation within the work year that it is earned.
 - 9.6.3 If for any reason an employee is directed, in writing, not to take all or any part of his/her annual vacation, the amount not taken beyond 24 months accrual shall be paid in cash no later than August 31st of the following fiscal year.
 - 9.6.4 Vacation credit shall accrue to the member upon completion of the regular work assignment on the last day of the pay period in which it is earned. Member's immediate supervisors are responsible for approving or disapproving vacation as per subsection 9.7 of this article. Members cannot take more vacation than they will earn in a work year, or have on the books, if carrying vacation over from previous year.
 - 9.6.5 Advancement of vacation will be allowed for members to have a negative vacation accrual balance for the remainder of his/her work year. Payroll will monitor annual vacation usage and if a member does use more than they earn in a work year, or have on the books, a salary deduction will be made in the last full pay period to correct the over usage.

9.7 Vacation Scheduling

- 9.7.1 It is the District and CSEA's intent for District supervisors to facilitate the members' vacation usage. Subject to operational needs, the time when vacation leave shall be taken by the employee shall not be unreasonable denied. If advance notice is given by the member, lack of a substitute shall never be a reasonable justification for denying vacation use.
 - 9.7.1.1 A member's request for vacation must be submitted in writing to his/her immediate supervisor on the approved vacation request form.
 - 9.7.1.2 A supervisor shall have ten (10) workdays from the submission date of any vacation request to accept or reject it. The request shall be automatically approved if the supervisor has not responded in writing within this ten (10) day time limit.
 - 9.7.1.3 Any vacation request for six (6) or more consecutive workdays

shall be submitted at least one calendar month in advance of the date requested in order to qualify for the provisions of 9.7.1.2.

- 9.7.2 Members regularly assigned and working less than 12 full months shall first schedule available vacation as follows:
 - (a) The one (1) day on the Wednesday immediately preceding Thanksgiving Day (provided it is a non-instructional day).
 - (b) The four (4) days during the winter recess not covered by holidays.
 - (c) The four (4) days during the spring recess not covered by holidays.

For members with additional vacation time, current provisions of the collective bargaining contract shall apply.

9.7.3 Once scheduled, the right of the member to take vacation as scheduled shall not be denied.

9.8 Interruption of Vacation

A member shall be permitted to interrupt or terminate vacation leave in order to begin another type of paid leave provided by this Agreement, without a return to active service, including bereavement leave and sick leave, provided the member supplies the District notice and supporting information regarding the basis for such interruption or termination of vacation.

9.9 Vacation Sell Back

- 9.9.1 Each fiscal year, an employee with a minimum balance of 160 hours may sell back one week of earned vacation currently on the books to a maximum of 40 hours provided the employee has used at least two weeks (maximum of 80 hours) of earned vacation during the fiscal year. For the 2020-2021 school year the parties agree that for the process used in determining "used at least two weeks," a denied vacation request may be counted as "used" if the vacation request:
 - has been approved and the employee used ten (10) days of vacation, or
 - has been denied in writing and a copy of the denied request is attached to the request to sell back vacation hours.
 - Known blackout dates as determined by the applicable department will not apply to this section.
- 9.9.2 For less than 12-month employees who have been employed four (4) or more years: Employees with accrued vacation hours may utilize those vacation hours towards non work/non pay days. This excludes mandatory vacation days as seen in Article 9.7.2

10. LEAVES

10.1 Bereavement Leave

All members will receive 5 days of bereavement per incident per the guidelines established in Assembly Bill (AB) 1949.

10.2 Jury Leave

Members who are on paid status shall be entitled to as many days paid leave for jury duty as required to fulfill his/her days under the law. The member shall receive his/her regular salary for the day.

10.3 <u>Military Leaves</u>

- 10.3.1 <u>Extended Military Leave</u>. Military leaves without pay may be granted by the District to members in permanent employment status for a period of one (1) year. Military leave may be extended or renewed indefinitely, except that such leaves shall not continue more than one (1) year beyond the date such military services become voluntary on the part of the member. Members shall be entitled to receive salary for the first thirty (30) calendar days while engaged in the performance of ordered military service. Employees who voluntarily enlist shall be excluded from this section's 30-day pay provision.
- 10.3.2 <u>Temporary Military Leave</u>. A member of the reserve corps of the armed forces of the United States or of the National Guard or the Naval Militia shall be entitled to a temporary military leave of absence while engaged in military duty ordered for purposes of military training, drills, encampment, naval cruises, special exercises, or like activity as such member, providing that the period of ordered duty does not exceed one hundred eighty (180) calendar days including time involved in going to and returning from such duty.

A member who is on temporary military leave of absence and who has been employed by the District for a period of not less than one (1) year immediately prior to the day on which the absence begins, shall be entitled to receive his/her salary or compensation for the first thirty (30) calendar days of such absence. Pay for such purposes shall not exceed thirty (30) days in any one (1) fiscal year. For the purpose of this section, service in the recognized military service shall be counted as District service.

10.3.3 <u>Pre-Induction Leave</u>. Personnel called by the armed forces for involuntary pre-induction physical examination shall suffer no loss of pay for the period required for such examination.

10.4 Sick Leave

10.4.1 Leave of Absence for Illness or Injury.

- (a) A member employed five (5) days a week by a school District shall be granted twelve (12) days leave of absence for illness or injury, exclusive of all days he/she is not required to render service to the District, with full pay for a fiscal year of service.
- (b) Employees are permitted to use sick leave, in an amount up to the sick leave that would be accrued during six months at the

employees' then current rate of entitlement, to attend to an illness of a child, parent, spouse or domestic partner of the employee. Medical verification may be required.

- 10.4.2 A member employed five (5) days a week, who is employed for less than a full fiscal year is entitled to that proportion of twelve (12) days leave of absence for illness or injury as the number of months he/she is employed bears to twelve (12).
- 10.4.3 A member employed less than five (5) days per week shall be entitled for a fiscal year of service to that proportion of twelve (12) days leave of absence for illness or injury as the number of days he/she is employed per week bears to five (5). When such members are employed for less than a full fiscal year of service, this and the preceding paragraph shall determine that proportion of leave of absence for illness or injury to which they are entitled.
- 10.4.4 Pay for any day of such absence shall be the same as the pay which would have been received had the member served during the day of illness.
- 10.4.5 At the beginning of each fiscal year, the full amount of sick leave granted under this section shall be credited to each member. Credit for sick leave need not be accrued prior to taking such leave and such leave may be taken at any time within the member's assigned work year. However, a newly employed member shall not be eligible to take more than six (6) days until the first day of the calendar month after completion of six (6) months of active service with the District.
- 10.4.6 <u>Paid Parental Leave</u>. Paid parental leave of absence shall be granted to a member of the bargaining unit in relation to childbearing as follows:
 - (a) A member who is pregnant may continue in active employment as late into her pregnancy as her health permits. Any disability caused or contributed to by pregnancy, miscarriage, abortion, childbirth, and recovery therefrom is, for all job related purposes, a temporary disability and shall be treated as such under sick leave provisions of this contract, provided that: (1) the claim for sick leave is supported with written verification of the physical disability and the length thereof by the attending physician, and (2) the member is not in unpaid leave status at the time of the claim.
 - (b) In addition, a member who is not on disability leave under the provision of paragraph (a) above may be granted, upon request, up to two (2) days of paid leave to be taken at the time of the birth of his/her child. These days may be taken at the time of delivery of the child and/or at the time the mother and child leave the hospital. This leave shall not be deducted from sick leave.
 - (c) Effective January 1, 2017, eligible members of the bargaining unit shall be granted, upon request, up to twelve work weeks of paid parental leave in accordance with Ed Code 45196.1. Members accessing parental leave under this section shall first utilize all

accrued sick leave, including all accumulated sick leave; any additional time within the 12 work weeks not covered by accrued sick leave shall be compensated at no less than 50 percent of the employee's regular salary for the remaining portion of the 12-work week period of parental leave.

- (d) When entitlement to leave under this section has been exhausted, entitlement to other sick leave, vacation or other paid leave may then be used.
- 10.4.7 <u>Accrual of Sick Leave</u>. Unused sick leave shall accumulate from year to year without limit. No credit shall be given for periods while the member is in an unpaid status.
- 10.4.8 <u>Proof of Illness.</u> The District may require proof of illness if there is a pattern of abuse or a viable reason to believe that sick leave was used for purpose other than illness. If an employee has been off work for an extended period of time due to illness or injury, the District may require a medical reason prior to the employee's return to work.
- 10.4.9 <u>Family and Medical Leave.</u> The District shall comply with all mandated provisions of State and Federal law concerning family and medical leave contained in the Family Medical Leave Act, the California Family Rights Act and any other related legislation.
 - (a) When entitlement to leave under this section has been exhausted, entitlement to vacation or other paid leave may then be used.

10.5 Industrial Accident and Illness Leave

When an accident or illness has been reported to a supervisor or administrator, it shall be reported on the appropriate form. In addition to any other benefits that a member may be entitled to, under the Workers' Compensation laws of this state, members shall be entitled to the following benefits:

- 10.5.1 A permanent employee suffering an injury or illness arising out of and in the course and scope of his/her employment shall be entitled to a leave of up to sixty (60) workdays in any one (1) fiscal year for the same accident or illness. This leave shall not be accumulated from year-to-year, and when any leave will overlap a fiscal year, the member shall be entitled to only that amount remaining at the end of the fiscal year in which the injury or illness occurred. To become eligible for this benefit, a member must have been an employee of the District for one (1) year.
- 10.5.2 Payment for wages lost on any day shall not, when added to an award granted the member under the Workers' Compensation laws of this state, exceed the normal wage for the day.
- 10.5.3 Industrial accident leave will be reduced by one (1) day for each day of authorized absence regardless of a compensation award made under Worker's Compensation.

- 10.5.4. Industrial accident or illness leave is to be used in lieu of normal sick leave benefits. When entitlement to industrial accident or illness leave under this section has been exhausted, entitlement to other sick leave, vacation or other paid leave may then be used. If, however, a member is still receiving temporary disability payments under the Workers' Compensation laws of this state at the time of the exhaustion of benefits under this section, he/she shall be entitled to use only so much of his/her accumulated and available normal sick leave and vacation leave, which, when added to the Workers' Compensation award, provides for a day's pay at the regular rate of pay. In the event vacation is used pursuant to this section Article 9.7.1.3 is waived.
- 10.5.5 Any time a member on industrial accident or illness leave is able to return to work, as verified by an appropriate medical release, he/she shall be reinstated in his/her position, if it exists, or an equivalent one if available.

10.6 <u>Medical Transfer</u>

If after a member has exhausted all available paid leaves, he/she remains medically unable to satisfactorily perform his/her regular job class duties, said member shall be placed on a re-employment list for a period of 39 months.

- 10.6.1 When a permanent, temporary or substitute position in the member's regular job class becomes available and the member has become medically able to perform the duties of the position, the District will fill such position from the re-employment list. His/her re-employment will take preference over all other applicants except for those laid off for lack of work or lack of funds.
- 10.6.2 When a temporary opening/position or a permanent position in a job class other than the member's regular job class becomes available, the District, in filling the position, will grant preferential consideration to members on the reemployment list over all other applicants except those laid off for lack of work or funds, provided that:
 - (a) The member is medically able to perform the duties of the position.
 - (b) The member meets the minimum desirable qualifications for the position as determined by the Human Resources Department and has formally requested consideration in that area of employment.

"Preferential consideration" means that a member will be granted an interview for an available job classification pursuant to this section.

(c) Placement of a member in a vacant position in accordance with Section 10.6.2 may be made, at the District's option, at any time after the member becomes medically unable to perform the duties of his/her regular job class, but before exhaustion of any other remaining paid leaves the member is entitled to receive.

10.7 Entitlement to Other Sick Leave

Each member shall once a year be credited with a total of 100 days of sick leave, which shall include sick leave provided under Section 10.4.1 of this Article. The additional sick leave provided by this section shall be compensated at the rate of fifty(50%) percent of

the member's regular salary and shall be used after the exhaustion of leaves provided in Sections 10.4 and 10.5.

10.7.1 Extended Disability

A member with ten (10) years of permanent and benefited status with the District and having exhausted all other paid sick leave shall, with proper medical verification, be placed on temporary disability payments of \$100 per month for a period of six (6) months, renewable for one additional six (6) month period with proper medical verification. All District-paid insurance shall be continued in full force during the period when this benefit is in effect.

10.8 Break in Service

No absence under any paid leave provisions of this article shall be considered as a break in service for a member who is in paid status and all benefits accruing under the provisions of this Article shall continue to accrue under such absence.

A member on an unpaid leave of absence, while not constituting a break in service, nevertheless is not in paid status for purposes of determining seniority based on hours worked.

10.9 <u>Miscellaneous Leave of Absence</u>

A permanent member may be granted, subject to District approval, unpaid leave for the following reasons, not to exceed the length of time specified:

- (a) Further education enroll as a student in school of higher learning for one (1)year.
- (b) Member Health one (1) year.
- (c) Personal a minimum of a month of time and a maximum amount of time of one (1) year. A member electing to take a leave under "Personal" leave must indicate to the District the specific leave time requested. This leave time, once granted to the member, shall be irrevocable.

Leaves under this section shall not be counted toward retirement or as a part of service to the District for the purpose of "seniority" accrual.

10.10 Unpaid Parental Leave

An unpaid parental leave of absence shall be granted to a permanent member in relation to child rearing as follows: A member shall be entitled, upon request to an unpaid leave to begin at any time between the commencement of the pregnancy and one (1) year after the member's child is born. Said member shall make formal application to the Human Resources Department for unpaid parental leave. This section is in lieu of or in addition to the use of sick leave for physical disability relating to the pregnancy.

10.11 Personal Necessity

A member may use up to eight (8) days per year of sick leave earned under 10.4 of this Article at his/her election in cases of personal necessity, including but not limited to any of the following examples:

a. Death of a member of his/her immediate family when additional leave is required beyond that provided in 10.1 of this article.

- b. Accident, involving his/her person or property, or the person or property of a member of his/her immediate family.
- c. Appearance in any court or before any administrative tribunal as a litigant party of witness under subpoena or any other made with jurisdiction.
- d. Other emergency or personal matter which requires the member to be absent from work during his/her regular work hours and which cannot be accomplished during the member's non-work hours.

Except in the case of an emergency, the employee will give his/her supervisor 48 hours notice regarding such absence. In addition, the member shall make a reasonable effort to avoid scheduling or using such days on Monday or Friday of the work week or the day preceding or subsequent to any scheduled school year recess or holiday period.

In claiming personal necessity, the member is certifying that such leave was not for any of the following:

- (a) Recreation
- (b) Other Employment
- (c) Work Stoppage or Strike
- (d) Any Illegal Activity

10.12 Critical Illness Leave

Three (3) days of critical illness leave per year (non-cumulative) shall be granted each member in the event of critical illness or injury to a member of his/her immediate family. A physician must provide a statement indicating that the nature of the illness or injury is critical. The word "critical" as used herein is defined as it is used in the medical profession, indicating that there is serious doubt concerning the survival of the patient.

10.13 Terminal Illness

When a member has written verification from a doctor that an illness appears to be terminal, the District shall pay to that member his/her full monthly salary for each month or part thereof that the member survives for a period not to exceed twelve (12) calendar months after the exhaustion of other benefits.

10.14 Occupational Study/Retraining Leave

The District may grant any member who has served the District in a satisfactory manner for a minimum period of three (3) consecutive years, an unpaid leave of absence not to exceed one (1) year for the purpose of permitting study by the member or for the purpose of retraining the member to meet changing work-related conditions within the District.

10.15 Return from Leaves

This section applies to members who have taken paid or unpaid leaves.

10.15.1 Upon returning from a paid leave of absence, the member shall assume the duties of his/her absented position provided that, during the period of absences, there has been no change in the member's capacity to meet

the requirements of the position.

- 10.15.2 For a person returning from a Board granted unpaid leave of 10 or more months, or if the position of a person on paid leave is no longer in existence, the member shall be assigned to a vacant position in his/her class, or if there is no vacant position, he/she shall be treated in the manner as if there were a reduction in force.
- 10.15.3 A member who returns from a leave of absence and is unable for personal or physical reasons to return to his/her former classification shall be placed on the re-employment list.
- 10.15.4 A member who fails to notify the Human Resources Department of his/her intent to return to active status within three (3) workdays after the effective date of return to service from the leave may be subject to a charge of job abandonment and subsequent disciplinary action.

10.16 Catastrophic Sick Leave Bank

(This bank combines hours from both the General Unit and Operations Support.)

10.16.1 <u>Purpose and Definition:</u> To provide additional paid sick leave benefits for permanent employees who suffer a catastrophic illness to supplement the extended leave entitlement in 10.7 so that the employee can receive full pay during the extended sick leave period. Donation to the sick leave bank shall not be considered utilization of sick leave for evaluation purposes related to attendance.

Catastrophic illness "or injury" means an illness or injury expected to incapacitate the employee for an extended period fifteen (15) working days or more, and taking extended time off work creates a financial hardship for the employee because he or she has exhausted all of his or her accrued sick leave.

- 10.16.2 <u>Donations:</u> To donate, an employee must:
 - (a) Donate a minimum of one (1) day (of employees regular scheduled hours) of accrued sick leave or vacation.
 - (b) Complete the irrevocable donation form during the donation period (during the month of November) and submit it to the Classified Human Resources Department by the last working day in November.
 - (c) Not donate sick leave if it results in less than five (5) days of accrued sick leave after donation.
 - (d) Not donate vacation days if it results in any unpaid period during the winter and spring recess periods (less than 12-month employees).

10.16.3 <u>Utilization</u>: For an employee to utilize the bank, the employee must:

(a) Have used all available regular sick leave, vacation, compensatory time off and personal necessity.

- (b) Have made an annual donation of at least one (1) day (employee's regular scheduled hours) unless determined otherwise by the committee.
- (c) Not request the leave for a stress related illness.
- (d) Submit a completed request form to the Classified Human Resources Department.
- 10.16.4 Miscellaneous Guidelines:
 - (a) The Sick Leave Bank Committee consisting of the Human Resources Director – Classified (Chairperson), the CSEA Chapter #127 President, one classified employee selected by CSEA, and one administrator selected by the District shall approve any request. All requests shall remain confidential to the member. It shall require a majority vote of the committee members and all votes shall be confidential.
 - (b) The maximum number of days allowed one employee for any approved catastrophic illness shall not extend beyond 125 days sick leave when combined with other available paid leaves (including 10.7).
 - (c) A request for additional days following the original request must not exceed the maximum of 125 days in (b) in this section.
 - (d) Any approved days unused by the employee shall be returned to the sick leave bank.
 - (e) An employee using the bank shall receive the same pay the employee would have earned had the employee worked all day.
 - (f) The Sick Leave Bank Committee shall administer the Sick Leave Bank and the hours contained therein and the District shall provide all necessary information to the Committee for these purposes.
 - (g) CSEA will be responsible for the solicitation of donations.
 - (h) A donation to the bank shall be a general donation and not be donated to a specific employee for his/her exclusive use.
 - (i) The bank will have a cap of 7,500 hours. If the bank has 7,500 hours or more, only newly eligible employees need to contribute during that contribution year.
 - (j) If the bank falls below the 7,500-hour level, newly eligible and existing employees in the bank must contribute to retain eligibility for that year. Should an existing employee fail to contribute during this time when the bank is below 7,500 hours, the employee shall no longer be eligible to utilize the hours from the bank for that year.

10.17 Chapter Release Time

- 1. If a CSEA Chapter representative or representatives is/are attending a District scheduled meeting on behalf of District/Chapter business, the Chapter representative(s) shall submit a release time form to their supervisor. Except in instances where the District has requested a meeting requiring the immediate need for CSEA officers or stewards to attend, every effort will be made to submit Release Time Notices/Requests at least five (5) days in advance of the release time/date. The five (5) day notice can be waived in appropriate/emergency circumstances by mutual agreement with the District Human Resources Department.
- 2. Upon request by CSEA, the District shall grant bargaining unit members to conduct necessary CSEA business. CSEA will reimburse the District for the release time. Release time for classified bargaining unit members may be requested by utilizing the Release Time Request form after receiving permission from CSEA.

10.17.1 Conference Release Time

The District will provide release time without the loss of compensation, for authorized conference delegates who require release time because they are in a paid status during the week of CSEA's Annual Conference. CSEA shall provide the names, including alternates, of the Conference delegates to the District by no later than June 30th each year. If an alternate is sent in place of the regular delegate, CSEA shall inform the District immediately.

10.17.2 Release Time Requiring Reimbursement

- (a) Requests made under Ed Code Section 45210 for release time shall be granted and shall be reimbursed at the full cost of the released employee within 10 days of billing.
- (b) Chapter President or designee released 2 days/week with sub cost reimbursed to District by CSEA.
- (c) Functions that the parties mutually agree provide District or mutual benefit (i.e., joint committees) would be District paid release time (no overtime).
- (d) Any release time requests not covered herein are actual requests and require District agreement whether to release employee (no approval under this provision constitutes past practice).

The parties agree to mutually develop a process for requesting/providing notice/ granting leaves as follows:

10.17.3 Release Time Process

- (a) Identify a minimum amount of notice/request required except in urgent situations.
- (b) Notice/request submitted to District designated position/person.
- (c) Reimbursement invoice to be sent to CSEA designated position.
- (d) Standard form to be developed jointly that documents the foregoing

information (dates, purpose, etc.).

- (e) Parties will explore options to minimize the impact of the employees release time.
- (f) Explore options generally with respect to release time as well as options related specifically to release of chapter president as early as possible.

11. TRANSFERS

11.1 Definition of Transfer

A transfer is a job site change within the employee's same job classification, except for employees assigned to District-wide programs, in which case a transfer is defined as a change in programs.

11.1.1 The District shall notify all members at least once each year, near the beginning of the calendar year, of the procedures for seeking a transfer.

11.2 Employer-Initiated Job Site Transfers

A regular employee may be involuntarily transferred for reasons other than punitive, based upon the justifiable needs and best interests of the District and/or regular employee, provided that such transfer shall not result in the loss of pay or benefits to the regular employee. The regular employee shall be given a minimum of ten (10) workdays notice prior to the effective date of a permanent transfer. Seniority (least senior in job classification) shall be given priority consideration, when practicable, in determining employer-initiated job site transfers.

11.3 <u>Regular Employee-Initiated Job Site Transfer</u>

- 11.3.1 All bargaining unit members may apply for transfer to another position of the same classification by filing a written request with the Classified Human Resources Department. The bargaining unit member shall prioritize the job site he/she requests transfer to in his/her application for transfer.
 - a) If a bargaining unit member accepts the transfer, the member will not be allowed to submit another transfer request for six (6) months.
 - b) If a bargaining unit member declines three (3) transfers from their list within one calendar year of their list being received by Human Resources, their transfer request form will become null and void and the member will not be allowed to submit another transfer request form for six (6) months.
- 11.3.2 To be considered for voluntary transfer into a vacant position, a bargaining unit member's last performance evaluation must reflect an overall rating of "meets standards" or better (with a rating of "meets standards" or better in the area of Human Relations Skills), and the bargaining unit member must have submitted such request for transfer prior to the date of the vacancy occurring. Bargaining unit members denied an opportunity to transfer due to their evaluation pursuant to this Article may request reconsideration of their voluntary transfer request by their Union representative, Human Resources and the program or department manager.
 - (a) The District shall maintain a list of Instructional Assistant I's that have indicated an interest in promoting to the Instructional Assistant II classification. Permanent IA I's that have received a satisfactory or better evaluation on their last performance evaluation may submit a District request form indicating the schools and hours desired. A

request shall be valid for 12 months and must be resubmitted to continue eligibility on the promotional list.

- (b) When a permanent Instructional Assistant II vacancy occurs, the Human Resources Department shall provide the selecting administrator with up to five (5) names for consideration from the promotional list. If after considering the candidates, the selecting administrator may request the position be advertised.
- 11.3.3 The Human Resources Department will maintain a voluntary transfer request list. Upon written notification of a pending or actual vacancy in a bargaining unit position, the Classified Human Resources Department shall contact regular permanent employees qualified under the provisions of this article to determine whether or not they wish to apply for the vacancy. If the vacancy is at the job site specified by the regular permanent employee in his/her application for transfer and he/she refuses the transfer offer, his/her name shall be moved to the bottom of the transfer list.
- 11.3.4 The individual, who in the judgment of the selecting supervisor/administrator best meets the needs of the vacant position, shall be given the assignment. In reaching this judgment, the selector shall consider the work record, experience and seniority of the applicant. The weight to be given the factors considered in the selection shall be determined by the selector.
- 11.3.5 If a regular permanent employee is interviewed for a position under the provisions of this article and is not appointed, the employee(s) shall be given, upon request, the specific reason(s) for the denial.
- 11.3.6 In compliance with the intent of this Article, authority for carrying out the procedures provided shall be fixed at the Department Head or Program Manager level in the following classifications: Instructional Assistants and related para-professionals all programs.
- 11.3.7 Regular permanent employees are limited to two (2) voluntary transfer during a twelve (12) month period. Transfer for the purpose of increasing hours of work shall be exempt from this provision.
- 11.4 Posting Vacancies
 - 11.4.1 All vacancies shall be posted by the District at all work sites for not less than five (5) workdays prior to interviews except the clerk and instructional assistant I vacancies as identified in 11.4.2.
 - 11.4.2 In the event of vacancies for positions of fourteen (14) hours per week or less in the classifications of instructional assistant I and clerk, this section will allow school sites to post these vacancies for three (3) to five (5) days at the cluster of schools which surround the site at which the vacancy has occurred and to allow the school site to recruit to fill these vacancies through whatever lawful methods suit the site's needs.

Nothing in this article shall preclude the District from posting such vacancies in accordance with 11.4.

11.5 <u>Promotions</u>

- 11.5.1 All bargaining unit members with satisfactory or better scores on their last evaluation may apply for a promotional opening or transfer.
- 11.5.2 The District shall advertise promotional examinations.
- 11.5.3 At least 50 percent of the candidates referred for an interview shall be current District employees, provided there are sufficient numbers of qualified member available.
- 11.5.4 Qualified in-District applicants referred for interview shall be given first choice of interview times as follows:

Regular permanent employees shall be given first choice of interview times; Probationary employees shall be given next choice of interview times; External applicants shall be given choice of interview times after permanent and probationary applicants have been given an opportunity to select interview times.

12. SAFETY

12.1 <u>Member Safety</u>

- 12.1.1 In order to provide for member safety, the District, on the first day of each school year, shall present a written copy of the District policy for student discipline, including the rights of suspended students, to unit members.
- 12.1.2 Members shall report, verbally and in writing, as soon as possible, cases of assault and battery (as defined by the Penal Code) suffered by them in connection with their employment to their site/program administrator or other immediate superior who shall immediately report the incident to the police. Such notification shall immediately be forwarded to the Superintendent. The Superintendent/designee shall comply with any reasonable request from the unit member for information in the possession of the District, unless confidential relating to the incident or persons involved.

12.2 Building Site Safety

- 12.2.1 A member or the Association may report, verbally or in writing, any unsafe or unhealthful condition of work to his/her immediate supervisor. In a case of a verbal report, the date of submission shall be recorded by the member and the supervisor.
- 12.2.2 The supervisor shall, within ten (10) workdays of receipt of the written or verbal report, respond in writing to the member stating corrective action taken, to be taken, or, if no action will be taken, state the reason why.
- 12.2.3 If the condition is not satisfactorily resolved, it may be submitted through the negotiated grievance procedure.

12.3 School/Site Safety Committee

- 12.3.1 Unit member(s) at each site may choose to participate in the safety committee at those schools or sites where one is formed. Committee participation shall be voluntary. Selection procedures shall be left to the staff at each site, but a contact person and backup shall be identified and communicated to the site administration.
- 12.3.2 The School/Site Safety Committee, if formed, shall assist the administration/supervisor in all areas related to the maintenance of school/site safety, order, and security. This shall include, but not necessarily be limited to school/site intruders, routine school/site security procedures, and emergency procedures.
- 12.3.3 The administration shall advise the school/site safety committee members of any incident related to school/site safety and security.
- 12.3.4 The committee may request the Superintendent/designee and the Associate President/designee to meet with the committee to discuss school/site security and safety concerns.

- 12.4 District Safety Committee
 - 12.4.1 A member shall be appointed to the District Safety Committee. The Association shall designate such member.
 - 12.4.2 The appointed member to the committee shall be allowed reasonable release time to carry out the obligation of the Safety Committee assignment.
- 12.5 Discrimination

No member shall be discriminated against because of carrying out the provisions of this Article.

12.6 <u>Restroom Facilities</u>

Members shall have access to lavatory, rest room facilities, workrooms, and employees' lounges at District work sites. The District shall maintain lavatory and rest room facilities in a safe and healthful condition.

12.7 Safety Equipment

The District agrees to furnish to members safety equipment or gear, or to reimburse the employees for the cost of procuring such, when in the regular course of employment such equipment or gear is reasonably required to ensure the safety of the member or others.

12.8 <u>CSEA Safety Officer</u>

12.8.1

- (a) The CSEA Safety Officer and District management will work with designated Management representatives to deal with safety related issues proactively before they arise and as they arise.
- (b) The CSEA Safety Officer shall be provided District paid release time to investigate safety issues as approved by the District.
- (c) The District shall provide to the CSEA Safety Officer no more than five (5) days of safety related training every two (2) years. The twoyear cycle for training will commence with each bi-annual election of a CSEA Safety Officer.
- 12.8.2 The Safety Officer shall work with District management to minimize the use of release time needed to fulfill these duties.
- 12.9 Risk Management

CSEA and the District will work collaboratively with District management and other designated personnel to develop and implement the District's risk management plan, to increase safety awareness, and to reduce accidents and industrial accident claims.

13. CONTRACT

13.1 Parties to the Contract

This Agreement is made and entered into by and between the San Juan Unified School District, herein referred to as the District, and the California School Employees Association San Juan Chapter #127, herein referred to as the Association.

13.2 Distribution of Contract

Within sixty (60) workdays after the execution of this contract, the District shall publish the agreement on the District's web site and provide an electronic copy to the CSEA representative and the San Juan Chapter #127 President. Outside of working hours or as otherwise authorized by existing contractual language, the District will allow classified unit members access to either the electronic contract version or a paper copy.

13.3 Savings

- 13.3.1 If any provision of this Agreement should be held invalid by operation of law or by any court of competent jurisdiction, or by a decision of the Public Employment Relations Board or its successors, the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby.
- 13.3.2 In the event of invalidation of any of the terms or conditions of this Agreement, either party may request to reopen negotiations with regard to the invalidated terms or conditions of agreement. If both parties consent to reopen negotiations under this Article, such negotiations shall commence within thirty (30) days of the date of consent.

14. **DEFINITIONS**

14.1 Immediate Family

The following relatives of the member, or the spouse of the member:

-Mother -father -grandmother -grandfather -brother -sister -son -son-in-law -step-mother -step-father -step-children -step-brother -step-sister	-daughter -daughter-in-law -foster parents -foster children -grandchildren -brother-in-law or sister-in-law of a member -aunt -uncle -or any relative living in the household of the member.
---	---

14.2 Immediate Supervisor

The person at the lowest supervisory level outside the bargaining unit who is responsible for directing or evaluating the member(s).

14.3 Standby Time

Time during an employee's scheduled work hours when, because of lack of materials, work-related activities/inactivity, at District direction a member is required to remain at his/her work site or duty location and unable to engage in individual pursuits.

14.4 Workday

A day when the administrative offices of the District are open for business.

15. LAYOFF

- 15.1 Definitions (Procedure)
 - 15.1.1 <u>Employee</u>: An employee for the purpose of this article is a permanent or probationary employee who is a member of the classified service.
 - 15.1.2 <u>Layoff</u>: Employees shall be subject to layoff for lack of work and/or lack of funds as determined by the governing board. A layoff for purposes of this article shall be considered an involuntary separation of an employee becauseof lack of work and/or lack of funds. Any voluntary reduction in regularly assigned time in lieu of layoff shall be considered a layoff for purposes of this article.

15.2 Order of Layoff (Procedure)

- 15.2.1 Whenever an employee is laid off, the order of layoff within the classification (including service within higher classifications) shall be as follows:
 - 15.2.1.1 For employees whose date of hire is before July 1, 1999, a seniority ranking list (by classification) will be developed. The seniority ranking list shall include all hours in paid status through June 30, 1999, as a probationary or permanent member of the classified service whether during the school year, a holiday, recess, or any period that a school is in session or closed. It does not include any hours compensated solely on an overtime basis, or while on military leave, or unpaid illness leave, or unpaid industrial accident leave. Once the ranking list is established, the individual employee ranking (seniority) will not change.
 - 15.2.1.2 For employees whose date of hire is on or after July 1, 1999, seniority will be determined by date of hire (as a probationary or permanent member) in the classification.
 - 15.2.1.3 Each party shall appoint a representative to meet and discuss the legal implications of the agreement to use date of hire for purposes of layoff for employees hired after the date of ratification and the ranking of current employees through the use of current contractual provisions.
- 15.2.2 If two (2) or more employees subject to layoff have equal seniority, the determination as to who shall be laid off shall be made based on the hire date into a probationary status with the employee hired first being retained. Otherwise, determination as to which employee is laid off shall be made by lot.
 - 15.2.2.1 For those members hired after July 1, 2020, seniority will be determined by the time stamp date on an employee's initial application for the classification hired into.
- 15.2.3 An employee who is laid off from a class and who has previous service in an equal or lower class and who has greater seniority shall have the right to

bump the employee having the least seniority with the closest job profile. (Job profile as defined in this section shall mean assigned hours per day, days per week and months per year.)

- 15.2.4 If there are two (2) or more positions with the same work profile that will be bumped, placement into the positions will be by employee choice (in order of seniority.) Employees who have placement choices will be notified of the placement meeting date, time and location. If an employee fails to report to the placement meeting, or fails to send a representative in his/her place, the Human Resources Department will identify the site placement.
- 15.3 Notification of Layoff (Procedure)
 - 15.3.1 The District shall notify all members at least once each year the seniority of their current classification. This shall be included annually on the employee's pay stub or comparable notification.
 - 15.3.2 The District shall transmit a copy of the board agenda to the Association regarding any proposed layoff. This shall constitute notice to the Association of said layoff.
 - 15.3.3 Within a reasonable time of a written request by the Association, the District will provide the Association with a seniority roster and a list of employees to be laid off.
- 15.4 Improper Layoff Rights
 - 15.4.1 Any employee who is improperly laid off and is otherwise entitled to employment shall be re-employed in the same or equal class immediately upon discovery of error.
 - 15.4.2 Accumulated sick leave, prior to layoff plus accumulated sick leave and vacation allowance for time not employed with the District as a result of improper layoff, will be reinstated.
 - 15.4.3 The employee will be reimbursed for all loss of pay from the District, as a result of the improper layoff, less any earnings the employee received from any other employment while on layoff.
 - 15.4.4. If the employee believes that, as a result of layoff, he/she has not been made financially whole by the District under 15.4.3, the employee may file a grievance at Step IV.
- 15.5 Separation Benefits
 - 15.5.1 Vacation time earned and unused at the time of layoff shall be computed and paid off with the final salary warrant due the employee.
 - 15.5.2 Eligibility for District contributions for dental, health, and vision insurance shall not be reduced for six (6) months despite the fact the hour-per-week qualification may change due to a voluntary reduction of hours by the employee to avoid layoff.
 - 15.5.3 The District will provide any laid-off employee the contractual District

contribution amount toward health, dental and vision insurance for two (2) calendar months following the affected employee's final scheduled day of employment.

- 15.5.4 Any employee who has received a layoff notice shall, upon his/her request, be allowed to take any unused accumulated vacation entitlement prior to the effective date of the layoff.
- 15.5.5 An employee who receives a layoff notice shall be permitted to use accrued and unused vacation and/or PN to seek alternative employment. Employees who have received a layoff notice must use accrued and unused vacation prior to use of PN to seek alternative employment and must schedule such time off with their supervisor. An employee's request to use such paid leave time in accordance with this Article, as modified herein, shall not be denied.

15.6 Re-Employment from Layoff

- 15.6.1 Employees laid off because of lack of work or lack of funds are eligible to reemployment for a period of 39 months and shall be re-employed in preference to new applicants. In addition, such persons laid off have the right to participate in promotional placement processes within the District during the period of 39 months.
- 15.6.2 Employees who take voluntary demotions or voluntary reductions in assigned time in lieu of layoff or to remain in their present positions rather than be reclassified or reassigned, shall be granted the same rights as persons laid off and shall retain eligibility to be considered for reemployment for an additional period of up to 24 months; provided that the same tests for fitness under which they qualified for appointment to the class shall still apply. Employees who take voluntary demotions or voluntary reductions in assigned time in lieu of layoff shall be, at the option of the employee, returned to a position in their former class or to positions with increased assigned time as vacancies become available, and without limitation of time, but if there is a valid re- employment list, they shall be ranked on that list in accordance with their proper seniority.
- 15.6.3 An employee who is laid off and is subsequently eligible for re-employment shall be notified in writing by the District of an opening. Such notice shall be sent by US and email to the last address given the District by the employee.
- 15.6.4 A laid off employee shall notify the District of his or her intent to accept or refuse re-employment within eight calendar days following the delivery/or first notice via last known U.S. Mail address and e-mail address (if known) of the re-employment notice. Failure to respond constitutes a refusal. After three refusals for re-employment, an employee shall be considered unavailable for re-employment and shall not be notified of future vacancies until the laid-off employee notifies the Human Resources Department, in writing, that he/she is available for re-employment.
- 15.6.5 Employees shall be re-employed in the highest rated job classification available in accordance with their length of service in the class from which they were laid off, plus higher classes. Employees who accept a position

lower than their former class shall retain their original thirty-nine (39) month rights to the higher paid positions.

- 15.6.6 Should an employee who had elected retirement in lieu of layoff subsequently accept, in writing, re-employment with the District, the District shall maintain the vacancy until PERS has properly processed the request for reinstatement from retirement.
- 15.6.7 Upon return to work, eligibility for vacation and sick leave entitlement shall be computed in accordance with seniority.
- 15.6.8 Unused sick leave benefits, accumulated prior to layoff, will be reinstated upon return to work.

16. RETIREMENT

The San Juan Unified School District, on behalf of the classified employees, shall participate in the CalPERS school employee retirement program. Classified employees are responsible for the designated employee contribution.

Employees hired prior to January 1, 2013, will receive the school employees' CaIPERS formula of 2% at age 55 scaling up to 2.5% at 63 or older. For those hired on or after January 1, 2013, they shall be subject to the CaIPERS formula of 2% at age 62. The percentages are subject to modification based upon legislation and/or CaIPERS' regulations.

Sick leave conversion: Any member may convert unused sick leave to retirement credit in accordance with Government Code Section 20862.5, or its successor, if the member is filing a request for retirement.

16.1 Retirement - Premium Payment

The District will provide, subject to insurance carrier approval, the opportunity for the full cost of medical insurance coverage and dental insurance coverage to those retired employees retiring from the District directly into the California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS), until the age of 65, or eligible age to receive Medicare provided that:

16.1.1

- (a) The employee is at least 55 years old and has not yet reached 65.
- (b) The employee has worked in the District as a regular employee for a nonconsecutive and cumulative total of ten (10) years.
- (c) The employee retires and continues his/her retirement from the District under the provisions of CalPERS.
- (d) If any retired employees become entitled to other medical or dental benefits (state, federal or other employment) as a primary beneficiary, the District shall be relieved from any and all payments under this section.
- 16.1.2 Employees in a regular position who are granted disability retirement by CalPERS shall be exempt from the 55-year-old requirement contained in Section 16.1.1 (a), provided that they have worked in the District for 10 years.
- 16.1.3 For retirees who do not qualify (reside outside of the health plan service areas) for any District-approved health plan, the District shall provide reimbursement, not to exceed the least expensive group retiree premium, to offset employee retiree health insurance costs. The District may require annual verification of health insurance coverage. Reimbursement shall commence upon verification of coverage and shall cease at age 65 or upon termination of coverage, whichever occurs first.

16.2 Early Retirement Incentive

The District and CSEA have reached agreement on clarifying language regarding proration of the Early Retirement Incentive Program benefits and on adding new language on eligibility of employees who retire prior to the Board's action with an effective date after the action but before the effective date of the layoff. The modified agreement is as follows:

If a decision to layoff is made by the Board of Education, such employees in classifications targeted or affected by layoffs shall be eligible to participate in the Early Retirement Incentive Program if theymeet the following criteria:

- a) Be eligible to retire under PERS; and
- b) Either submit retirement forms within 30 calendar days of the Board's action or have submitted retirement forms prior to the Board's action but with a retirement effective date after the date of the Board's action and before the effective date of layoffs.
- c) Employees who accept the Early Retirement Incentive and elect to return to work at San Juan Unified School District are not eligible for a second ERI.
- 16.2.1 The employee shall have the following options available:
 - a) Lump sum payment of \$5,000 upon retirement; or
 - b) Purchase of \$5,000 annuity, if qualified (details to be determined by the employee and District).

Employees working less than eight (8) hours per day will have the \$5,000 pro-rated on those hours he/she works as it relates to eight hours.

17. EVALUATION

- 17.1 Employees in Probationary Status
 - (a) The probationary period for a new employee hired on and prior to November 14, 2020, will be one year and should receive a written performance evaluation on or about the end of the fifth and eleventh month of initial probationary employment period.

The probationary period for a new employee hired on and after November 15, 2020, shall be six months or 130 days of paid service, whichever is longer, and should receive a written performance evaluation on or about the end of the third month and the fifth month of initial probationary employment period.

(b) Promoted employees serving their six (6) month promotional probationary period may receive a written performance evaluation on orabout the end of the third month and fifth month of employment in the new classification.

17.2 Regular Employees in Permanent Status

- (a) Employees shall receive a written performance evaluation at least everytwo years between January 1 and May 1. The evaluation will be discussed between the rating supervisor and the member prior to the member's signing a verification of the evaluation.
- (b) Unscheduled written evaluations may be submitted by a member's supervisor provided that the affected member verifies by signature, or it isotherwise certified, that he/she has reviewed the evaluation, received a copy and has had an opportunity to respond.
- (c) Employees may request a review of below standard ratings by the supervisory or managerial level immediately above the rating supervisor.
- 17.3 General
 - (a) Evaluation reflecting an overall below standard performance shall not be placed in the member's personnel file without verification by the initiating supervisor that the member has reviewed the evaluation and been provided an opportunity to respond verbally or in writing.
 - (b) Evaluation factors reflecting "needs improvement" or "not satisfactory" performance shall include specific statements of deficiencies noted and specific recommendations for improvement. Specific recommendations for improvement should flexibly address the conduct requiring modification and should specify the time frame for improvement. Immediate improvement may be required (for something like coming in late) or can have a follow up period of 15, 30 or 60 days, depending on the issue. The evaluator shall provide feedback to the employee and shall meet with the employee upon request. In the event an improvement plan is created and there is not adequate improvement for the employee to be rated overall satisfactory, the final summary shall be placed in the personnel file and will serve as an evaluation.

- (c) Below standard performance may apply to any specific evaluation category or to the member's overall job performance.
- (d) No evaluation shall be based upon verbal statements unless the accuracy of the statement is verified by the rater.
- (e) Any written response to a below standard performance evaluation by the member will be attached to the member's evaluation before being placed in the member's personnel file.
- (f) A member who has had an evaluation containing information of a derogatory nature placed in his/her personnel file may request an unscheduled evaluation. If an unscheduled evaluation is done by the administrator/supervisor, the unscheduled evaluation shall become the new evaluation.

17.4 Evaluation Forms

The District and Association have created job specific evaluation forms for all classifications of custodial employees, food services employees and Instructional Assistants. <u>All other classifications shall be evaluated using the general classified evaluation form.</u> Employees whose evaluations are rated below standards or needs improvement shall be accompanied by documentation that verifies that the employee was given ample notification of the need for improvement. The documentation shall contain the date(s) the supervisor met with the employee to discuss the performance expectations and plans to improve. If these criteria are not met, the performance evaluation shall be "meets standards" or above.

18. **PROFESSIONAL GROWTH**

The District shall establish a Professional Growth Fund (for the General Unit and Operations Support Unit combined) not to exceed \$20,000 per year effective 7/1/02.

- (a) Used portion of fund will renew annually so each year there will be \$20,000 available to CSEA employees for professional growth.
- (b) Joint Committee composed of no more than three (3) representatives each from the District and the Association to oversee the program (eligibility/acceptable units/classes/workshops/awards).

18.1 For the 2021-2022 School Year:

The District will offer optional training for instructional classified staff working at a site with students. This training will be offered prior to classes being supported by staff and will include newly adopted curriculum and new software programs. Appropriate technical and curricular training shall be identified by the District.

Any classified personnel receiving training outside of their calendared workday shall be compensated at their hourly rate unless overtime is applicable.

Prior to being assigned to perform a job duty that requires technology the equipment needed shall be identified by the District. The District will provide appropriate equipment to instructional classified personnel in order to perform the duties assigned.

18.2 Training Outside Work Hours

Any classified personnel receiving training outside of their calendared work hours shall be compensated at their hourly rate (with overtime calculated if applicable). The implementation of this article shall not negatively impact classified employees' access to training opportunities.

18.3 License/Certification Renewal

The District agrees to implement an annual renewal reimbursement for the following classified employees whose job classification requires license/certification renewal: LVN – Health Instructional Assistant, Occupational Therapist license, Occupational Therapy Assistant license, Speech Language Pathologist Assistant license, and Assistive Technology Professional credential. Any renewal reimbursement shall not exceed \$500. Classified employees must complete filing of verifiable transcripts, licenses or certificates in Human Resources by November 1 each year. Members must be serving in an assignment that uses a valid license or certification for this reimbursement. It is the responsibility of the member to submit their renewal to Human Resources for consideration.

19. JOINT COMMITTEE

Budget Review Committee

Participation in District Budgetary Decision-Making Process: The parties agree that the simultaneous considerations of collective bargaining obligations shall be integral to all future budgetary decision-making. The District and the CSEA shall be involved in the budget reduction and the subsequent budget development process. This process includes review of programs, expenditures, adjustments, budget priorities, restoration, and overall implementation. The parties agree that the current budget reduction process shall be driven by the shared goal of minimal impact on quality education and student achievement, full consideration of expenditure alternatives, evaluation of decisions, reliable information, and open communication. The District will use a facilitator as appropriate, to be jointly agreed upon by the parties, to facilitate an ongoing budget review process, including key points of review.

<u>Budget Review Committee (BRC)</u>: The BRC shall be charged with considering the current state of the District's fiscal health as well as potential modifications in the current school finance system that improve or worsen the District's fiscal condition. Those considerations include, but are not limited to, enrollment projections, expenditure patterns, fund balances, multi-year projections, funded revenue limits, use of contracted employees and services, staffing standards, modifications to the restricted income expenditures of the District. Recommendations shall be made to the Board of Education and the Association for consideration. Discussion may include any relevant data or projections, program restoration, Program modifications, compensation adjustments or budget adjustments to maintain fiscal solvency for the current, and subsequent two, fiscal years.

<u>Joint BRC Pilot (2024-25)</u>: In the 2024-25 school year, the parties agree to conduct a one-year pilot of a joint BRC with the San Juan Teachers Association (SJTA). The CSEA President and one (1) other representative will participate in the joint BRC during this one-year pilot. Before the conclusion of the 2024-25 school year, the parties will review learnings from the pilot and determine the structure of the BRC beyond 2024-25.

20. Budget Transparency

During the term of this agreement, the District shall make available copies of formal budget reports, including the Adopted Budget, the First Interim Report, the Second Interim Report, the Third Interim Report (if applicable) and Unaudited Actuals Report. These reports comply with the format required by the state and contain information regarding historical and projected budget information. Such information may include current and multi-year projections for enrollment, revenues, expenditures, and assumptions used for budget development. These reports are readily available on the District website. The California School Employees Association President may also request hard copies of these reports from the District's Labor Relations Office. The District also agrees to provide a training session for the California School Employees Association President, Labor Relations Representative, and bargaining team. The intent of the training will be to teach the participants to better understand the information provided in the reports listed above.

21. The Classified School Employee Summer Assistance Program (CSESAP)

Beginning in the 2024-25 school year, the parties agree to participate in the Classified School Employee Summer Assistance Program (CSESAP) going forward (subject to continued state authorization of the program). The District will follow all guidelines and timelines established by the California Department of Education (CDE). Qualifying employees will be notified annually, via District email address and physical (mailed) correspondence within the timelines established by the CDE.

22. Extended School Year and Summer School Program

22.1 Summer School and Extended School Year Employment

The District will make every effort to advertise and offer all classified work during summer academic sessions to internal District employees first. Subsequently, the District will exhaust all options to recruit for and fill posted vacancies before hiring contractors to serve in the same roles.

- 22.1.1 Where practicable, priority in selection will be given to candidates in which the placement maintains the employee's regular work year calendar location.
- 22.1.2 If it is necessary to assign classified employees not regularly assigned to serve between the end of one academic year and the commencement of another, that assignment shall be made on the basis of qualifications for employment in each classification of service that is required.
- 22.1.3 The District may not require a classified employee whose regular yearly assignment for service excludes all, or any part of, the period between the end of the academic year to the beginning of the next academic year to perform services during that period.
- 22.1.4 The District shall convene with CSEA no later than March 30 each year to discuss summer academic employment and facility needs.

22.2 <u>Summer Workability Assistance Program</u>

The District and CSEA agree to make the Summer Workability Assistance Program permanent (subject to ongoing grant funding). This program provides an opportunity for classified employees to earn additional income while also providing the opportunity for identified workability students to earn additional income and learn transferable job/life skills and work experience for the future.

- 22.2.1 The District and CSEA agree that the ability to offer the Summer Workability Assistance Program under the following provisions is subject to an annual grant allocation. Should the grant be reduced or eliminated, the parties agree to immediately open this article for negotiation.
- 22.2.2 The District will select up to two (2) cleaning teams supporting up to ten (10) worksites that will be utilized for participation in this program.
- 22.2.3 Workability students/hours or skills shall not be utilized to replace hours or work of classified custodians assigned to any worksite.
- 22.2.4 Supervision of the workability students shall be provided by the Special Education Department administrators and assigned classified Instructional Assistants.
- 22.2.5 No less than one (1) Instructional Assistant shall be assigned for every five (5) workability students for supervision, assistance and guidance.

- 22.2.6 Workability students' hours on-site, shall begin at 8:30 a.m. and complete at 12:00 p.m.
- 22.2.7 Workability students will be transported from their District school site to selected deep cleaning sites by the San Juan Unified Transportation Department. The San Juan Unified Transportation Department will also transport the workability students from the work site back to the school site at the completion of every day.
- 22.2.8 Classified custodians are to model, guide, demonstrate and assist the workability students in understanding the role and skills of a custodian. Custodians are not responsible to supervise the Workability students. Additional coaching if needed, and behavior shall be provided by assigned instructional assistants.
- 22.2.9 Workability students and Instructional Assistants will move to different sites as determined by M&O Custodial Department based on the Summer Deep Cleaning schedule. The M&O Custodial Department is responsible for communicating schedules and site changes to the Special Education Program Administrator in charge and the school site to ensure correct schedules and sites.



SAN JUAN UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT CSEA General Unit Classifications 2024 – 2025 Salary Schedule

Salary			
Range	Job Classification	Minimum	Maximum
10	Community Liaison	\$18.11	\$18.86
	Non-Instructional Support Aide		
	Program Aide		
12	Child Development Assistant - School Age*	\$18.11	\$19.74
	Instructional Assistant I		
13	Campus Representative†	\$18.11	\$20.19
	Campus Safety Monitor†		
14	Clerk	\$18.11	\$20.63
	Instructional Assistant - Academy		
	Instructional Assistant - Alt Learning Center		
16	Spec Ed Campus Interventionention Support	\$18.11	\$21.52
17	Intermediate Clerk	\$18.11	\$22.05
18	Health Assistant	\$18.11	\$22.60
	Instructional Assistant, Bilingual - Arabic†		
	Instructional Assistant, Bilingual - Dari†		
	Instructional Assistant, Bilingual - Farsi†		
	Instructional Assistant, Bilingual - Pashto†		
	Instructional Assistant, Bilingual - Russian†		
	Instructional Assistant, Bilingual - Spanish†		
	Instructional Assistant, Bilingual - Ukranian†		
	Intermediate Clerk Typist		
	Youth/Adult Employment Tech I		
19	Child Development Assistant - Infant/Toddler*	\$18.37	\$23.16
19B	Expanded Learning Prog Assistant -	\$18.58	\$23.38
	IA - Deaf And Hard of Hearing‡		
	IA - Orthopedic/Visual Impaired‡		
	Instructional Assistant II‡		
20	Account Clerk I	\$18.78	\$23.61
	Bilingual Translator, Arabic†		
	Bilingual Translator, Dari†		
	Bilingual Translator, Farsi†		
	Bilingual Translator, Pashto†		
	Bilingual Translator, Russian†		
	Bilingual Translator, Spanish†		
	Bilingual Translator, Ukrainian†		
21	Parent/Family Support Ambassador	\$19.27	\$24.19
	School/Community Resource Assistant - Arabic		
	School/Community Resource Assistant - Dari		
	School/Community Resource Assistant - Farsi		
	School/Community Resource Assistant - Pashto		
	School/Community Resource Assistant - Russian		
	School/Community Resource Assistant - Spanish		
	School/Community Resource Assistant - Ukranian		
22	Braillist	\$19.66	\$24.78
	Instructional Assistant - Mul Sev Hndcp‡		
	Instructional Assistant III‡		
	Middle School Records/Report Clerk		
	Prevention Assistant		
	School/Community Intervention Assistant		
	Social Emotional Support Tech		



SAN JUAN UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT CSEA General Unit Classifications 2024 – 2025 Salary Schedule

Salary			
Range	Job Classification	Minimum	Maximum
22	Senior Records & Report Clerk	\$19.66	\$24.78
23	Adam & Family Services Technician	\$20.10	\$25.35
	Front Lobby Receptionist		
	High School Secretary I		
	M&O Work Order Technician		
	Middle School Media/Library Technician		
	Registrar/Secretary - Academy		
	Secretary		
24	Account Clerk II	\$20.53	\$25.90
	Fiscal Technician I		
	Senior Personnel Clerk		
25	College & Career Center Tech	\$20.99	\$26.51
	Elem School Secretary		
	Instructional Materials Tech		
	SPED Center Secretary		
26	High School Secretary II	\$21.52	\$27.15
	Lead M&O Work Ordr Tech/Dispat		
	Middle School Secretary		
27	Facilities Use Technician	\$22.05	\$27.79
	Payroll Technician I		
	School Controller		
28	Admin Assistant	\$22.52	\$28.42
	School Community Specialist		
	School/Community Intervention Specialist I		
29	Community Relations Technician	\$23.06	\$29.07
	Employee Benefits Technician		
	Fiscal Technician II		
	Fiscal Technician II - Bond		
	Payroll Technician II	* 22 5 2	*••••
30	Expanded Learning Site Facilitator	\$23.59	\$29.78
31	Budget Technician	\$24.14	\$30.49
	Payroll Specialist		
	Personnel Technician		
20	Retirement Specialist	#04.00	01.05
32	Attendance Technician	\$24.66	\$31.25
	Data Compliance Technician		
	Financial Info System Support Specialist Procurement Technician		
	SIS Support Specialist I		
34	Tech Support Specialist I Family And Comm Engment Facilitator	\$25.85	\$32.69
54	School/Community Refugee Specialist	φ 2 0.00	φ32.09
	School/Community Intervention Specialist II		
	School/Community Prevention Specialist		
35	Behavior Support Assistant	\$26.48	\$33.48
	Expanded Learning Prog Specialist	φ20.40	φ33.40
	Procurement Specialist (Const/Bond)		
	Sign Language Interpreter‡		
37	Instructional Assistant - Health	\$27.69	\$34.97
37	District/Community Engagemnt Specialist	\$27.09	\$35.81
50		φ20.33	φυυ.ο Γ



SAN JUAN UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT CSEA General Unit Classifications 2024 – 2025 Salary Schedule

Salary Range	Job Classification	Minimum	Maximum
39	School Commun Worker - Indian Education Program	\$29.04	\$36.71
	School/Community Worker		
40	Safety Specialist	\$29.73	\$37.63
	Speech & Language Pathology Assistant‡		
41	Accountant	\$30.39	\$38.48
	Accounting Analyst		
	Communications Specialist		
	Ops Analyst Facilities/Maintenance/Transportation		
	Procurement Analyst Facilities/Construction		
	Procurement Analyst		
	Risk Management Anaylst		
44	Tech Support Specialist II	\$32.60	\$41.35
46	Mental Health Worker	\$34.14	\$43.30
47	Senior Tech Support Specialist	\$34.97	\$44.28
	SIS Senior Support Specialist		
48	Community Safety Specialist	\$35.82	\$45.35
	Telecommunication Systems Technician		
50	Communication Specialist II	\$37.51	\$47.58
	Cultural Communication Specialist		
	Data Networking Specialist		
51	Certified Occupational Therapy Assistant	\$38.39	\$48.66
	LCAP Analyst		
	Mental Health Therapist		
	Program Analyst		
	Research Analyst		
53	Senior Community Safety Specialist	\$41.50	\$52.58
	Senior Programmer Analyst		
60	Database Administrator	\$49.33	\$62.48
67	Occupational Therapist	\$58.68	\$73.71

SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL

2nd Shift (3:00 pm - 10:59 pm) additional \$0.43 per hour 3rd Shift (11:00 pm - 6:59 am) additional \$0.49 per hour

ANNIVERSARY/LONGEVITY INCREMENTS

- 1. 2.3% of base salary after 10 years of completed services in the San Juan Unified School District
- 2. 4.5% of base salary after 15 years of completed services (4.5% includes the year 10 increment)
- 3. 6.2% of base salary after 20 years of completed services (6.2% includes the year 10 and year 15 increments)
- 4. 8.2% of base salary after 25 years of completed services (8.2% includes the year 10, 15, and 20 increments)

Board Approval Date: August 13, 2024

*CDA SA/ITPR Continuing Education - Step 7, 3.5% increase from Step 6

† These job classifications receive 3% more than listed salary at their respective range

‡ These job classifications receive 5% more than listed salary at their respective range

§ These job classification receive 8% more than listed salary at their respective range

5% increase effective July 01, 2024.

All rates are per hour



SAN JUAN UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT Classified Salary Schedule (CSEA) 2024 – 2025 Salary Schedule

Range		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6
10	Monthly	\$3,139	\$3,139	\$3,139	\$3,139	\$3,139	\$3,271
	Hourly	\$18.11	\$18.11	\$18.11	\$18.11	\$18.11	\$18.86
11	Monthly	\$3,139	\$3,139	\$3,139	\$3,139	\$3,185	\$3,351
	Hourly	\$18.11	\$18.11	\$18.11	\$18.11	\$18.37	\$19.32
12	Monthly	\$3,139	\$3,139	\$3,139	\$3,139	\$3,254	\$3,421
	Hourly	\$18.11	\$18.11	\$18.11	\$18.11	\$18.78	\$19.74
13	Monthly	\$3,139	\$3,139	\$3,139	\$3,185	\$3,339	\$3,499
	Hourly	\$18.11	\$18.11	\$18.11	\$18.37	\$19.27	\$20.19
14	Monthly	\$3,139	\$3,139	\$3,139	\$3,254	\$3,407	\$3,575
	Hourly	\$18.11	\$18.11	\$18.11	\$18.78	\$19.66	\$20.63
15	Monthly	\$3,139	\$3,139	\$3,185	\$3,343	\$3,484	\$3,665
	Hourly	\$18.11	\$18.11	\$18.37	\$19.28	\$20.10	\$21.14
15B							
	Hourly	\$18.11	\$18.11	\$18.58	\$19.46	\$20.31	\$21.33
16	Monthly	\$3,139	\$3,139	\$3,254	\$3,407	\$3,559	\$3,731
	Hourly	\$18.11	\$18.11	\$18.78	\$19.66	\$20.53	\$21.52
17	Monthly	\$3,139	\$3,185	\$3,339	\$3,484	\$3,640	\$3,822
	Hourly	\$18.11	\$18.37	\$19.27	\$20.10	\$20.99	\$22.05
18	Monthly	\$3,139	\$3,254	\$3,407	\$3,559	\$3,731	\$3,917
	Hourly	\$18.11	\$18.78	\$19.66	\$20.53	\$21.52	\$22.60
19	Monthly	\$3,185	\$3,339	\$3,484	\$3,640	\$3,822	\$4,014
	Hourly	\$18.37	\$19.27	\$20.10	\$20.99	\$22.05	\$23.16
19B							
	Hourly	\$18.58	\$19.46	\$20.31	\$21.26	\$22.29	\$23.38
20	Monthly	\$3,254	\$3,407	\$3,559	\$3,731	\$3,903	\$4,090
	Hourly	\$18.78	\$19.66	\$20.53	\$21.52	\$22.52	\$23.61
20A			• · ·				
	Hourly	\$18.89	\$19.77	\$20.66	\$21.66	\$22.65	\$23.75
21	Monthly	\$3,339	\$3,484	\$3,640	\$3,822	\$3,997	\$4,193
	Hourly	\$19.27	\$20.10	\$20.99	\$22.05	\$23.06	\$24.19
22	Monthly	\$3,407	\$3,559	\$3,731	\$3,903	\$4,089	\$4,296
	Hourly	\$19.66	\$20.53	\$21.52	\$22.52	\$23.59	\$24.78
23	Monthly	\$3,484	\$3,640	\$3,822	\$3,997	\$4,185	\$4,395
	Hourly	\$20.10	\$20.99	\$22.05	\$23.06	\$24.14	\$25.35
24	Monthly	\$3,559	\$3,731	\$3,903	\$4,089	\$4,275	\$4,489
25	Hourly	\$20.53	\$21.52	\$22.52 \$2.007	\$23.59	\$24.66	\$25.90 \$4.502
25	Monthly	\$3,640 \$20.00	\$3,822 \$32.05	\$3,997 \$32.06	\$4,185 \$24.14	\$4,376 \$25,25	\$4,593 \$26.51
26	Hourly	\$20.99 \$2,721	\$22.05	\$23.06 \$4.080	\$24.14 \$4.275	\$25.25	\$26.51 \$4.706
26	Monthly	\$3,731 \$21,52	\$3,903 \$32,52	\$4,089 \$23.50	\$4,275 \$24.66	\$4,480 \$25.85	\$4,706 \$27.15
27	Hourly Monthly	\$21.52 \$3.822	\$22.52 \$3.007	\$23.59 \$4.185	\$24.66 \$4.376	\$25.85 \$4.580	\$27.15 \$4.817
21	Hourly	\$3,822 \$22.05	\$3,997 \$23.06	\$4,185 \$24.14	\$4,376 \$25,25	\$4,589 \$26.48	\$4,817 \$27.70
28	Monthly		\$23.06 \$4.080	\$24.14 \$4.275	\$25.25 \$4.480		\$27.79 \$4.925
20	Hourly	\$3,903 \$22.52	\$4,089 \$23.59	\$4,275 \$24.66	\$4,480 \$25.85	\$4,690 \$27.05	\$4,925 \$28.42
29	Monthly	\$3,997	\$23.59 \$4,185	\$24.00 \$4,376	\$25.85 \$4,589	\$4,800	\$20.42 \$5,038
25	Hourly	\$3,997 \$23.06	\$4,165 \$24.14	\$4,376 \$25.25	\$4,589 \$26.48	\$4,800 \$27.69	\$5,038 \$29.07
30	Monthly	\$4,089	\$24.14 \$4,275	\$25.25	\$20.48 \$4,690	\$4,916	\$29.07 \$5,162
30	Hourly	\$4,089 \$23.59	\$4,275 \$24.66	\$4,480 \$25.85	\$4,090 \$27.05	\$4,910 \$28.35	\$3,102 \$29.78
31	Monthly	\$23.59 \$4,185	\$24.00 \$4,376	\$25.85 \$4,589	\$4,800	\$28.35	\$29.78 \$5,283
51	Hourly	\$4,165 \$24.14	\$4,376 \$25.25	\$4,569 \$26.48	\$4,800 \$27.69	\$5,032 \$29.04	\$30.49
	riouriy	φ ∠ 4.14	φ20.20	φ20.40	φ21.09	φ29.04	φ 30.49

SAN JUAN UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT Classified Salary Schedule (CSEA) 2024 – 2025 Salary Schedule

Range		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6
32	Monthly	\$4,275	\$4,480	\$4,690	\$4,916	\$5,154	\$5,417
52	Hourly	\$24.66	\$25.85	\$27.05	\$28.35	\$29.73	\$31.25
33	Monthly	\$4,376	\$4,589	\$4,800	\$5,032	\$5,266	\$5,530
•••	Hourly	\$25.25	\$26.48	\$27.69	\$29.04	\$30.39	\$31.90
34	Monthly	\$4,480	\$4,690	\$4,916	\$5,154	\$5,396	\$5,666
-	Hourly	\$25.85	\$27.05	\$28.35	\$29.73	\$31.14	\$32.69
35	Monthly	\$4,589	\$4,800	\$5,032	\$5,266	\$5,522	\$5,805
	Hourly	\$26.48	\$27.69	\$29.04	\$30.39	\$31.86	\$33.48
36	Monthly	\$4,690	\$4,916	\$5,154	\$5,396	\$5,649	\$5,932
	Hourly	\$27.05	\$28.35	\$29.73	\$31.14	\$32.60	\$34.22
37	Monthly	\$4,800	\$5,032	\$5,266	\$5,522	\$5,770	\$6,062
	Hourly	\$27.69	\$29.04	\$30.39	\$31.86	\$33.30	\$34.97
38	Monthly	\$4,916	\$5,154	\$5,396	\$5,649	\$5,917	\$6,206
	Hourly	\$28.35	\$29.73	\$31.14	\$32.60	\$34.14	\$35.81
39	Monthly	\$5,032	\$5,266	\$5,522	\$5,770	\$6,062	\$6,362
	Hourly	\$29.04	\$30.39	\$31.86	\$33.30	\$34.97	\$36.71
40	Monthly	\$5,154	\$5,396	\$5,649	\$5,917	\$6,208	\$6,522
	Hourly	\$29.73	\$31.14	\$32.60	\$34.14	\$35.82	\$37.63
41	Monthly	\$5,266	\$5,522	\$5,770	\$6,062	\$6,353	\$6,668
	Hourly	\$30.39	\$31.86	\$33.30	\$34.97	\$36.65	\$38.48
42	Monthly	\$5,396	\$5,649	\$5,917	\$6,208	\$6,501	\$6,830
	Hourly	\$31.14	\$32.60	\$34.14	\$35.82	\$37.51	\$39.40
43	Monthly	\$5,522	\$5,770	\$6,062	\$6,353	\$6,649	\$6,979
	Hourly	\$31.86	\$33.30	\$34.97	\$36.65	\$38.36	\$40.26
44	Monthly	\$5,649	\$5,917	\$6,208	\$6,501	\$6,827	\$7,166
	Hourly	\$32.60	\$34.14	\$35.82	\$37.51	\$39.39	\$41.35
45	Monthly	\$5,770	\$6,062	\$6,353	\$6,649	\$6,979	\$7,325
	Hourly	\$33.30	\$34.97	\$36.65	\$38.36	\$40.26	\$42.26
46	Monthly	\$5,917	\$6,208	\$6,501	\$6,827	\$7,145	\$7,503
	Hourly	\$34.14	\$35.82	\$37.51	\$39.39	\$41.23	\$43.30
47	Monthly	\$6,062	\$6,353	\$6,649	\$6,979	\$7,306	\$7,675
	Hourly	\$34.97	\$36.65	\$38.36	\$40.26	\$42.15	\$44.28
48	Monthly	\$6,208	\$6,501	\$6,827	\$7,145	\$7,491	\$7,861
	Hourly	\$35.82	\$37.51	\$39.39	\$41.23	\$43.21	\$45.35
49	Monthly	\$6,353	\$6,649	\$6,979	\$7,306	\$7,658	\$8,047
50	Hourly	\$36.65	\$38.36	\$40.26	\$42.15	\$44.18	\$46.43
50	Monthly	\$6,501	\$6,827 \$20,20	\$7,145	\$7,491	\$7,859 \$45.24	\$8,248
51	Hourly	\$37.51	\$39.39	\$41.23 \$7.206	\$43.21 \$7.659	\$45.34	\$47.58
51	Monthly	\$6,655 \$38 30	\$6,979 \$40.26	\$7,306 \$42.15	\$7,658 \$44 18	\$8,036 \$46.36	\$8,434 \$48.66
52	Hourly Monthly	\$38.39 \$7,028	\$40.26 \$7,362	\$42.15 \$7,699	\$44.18 \$8,070	\$46.36 \$8,491	\$48.66 \$8,903
52	Hourly	\$7,028 \$40.55	\$7,302 \$42.48	\$7,099 \$44.42	\$8,070 \$46.56	\$6,491 \$48.99	\$6,903 \$51.37
53	Monthly	\$40.55 \$7,193	\$42.40 \$7,534	\$7,873	\$40.50	\$40.99 \$8,675	\$9,111
00	Hourly	\$41.50	\$43.46	\$45.42	\$8,200 \$47.65	\$50.05	\$52.58
54	Monthly	\$7,376	\$7,717	\$8,070	\$8,459	\$8,894	\$9,337
V-T	Hourly	\$42.56	\$44.52	\$46.56	\$48.80	\$51.31	\$53.87
55	Monthly	\$7,557	\$7,913	\$8,273	\$8,670	\$9,113	\$9,572
	Hourly	\$43.60	\$45.65	\$47.73	\$50.02	\$52.59	\$55.22
56	Monthly	\$7,747	\$8,110	\$8,481	\$8,890	\$9,344	\$9,811
	Hourly	\$44.69	\$46.79	\$48.93	\$51.29	\$53.91	\$56.60
	riourry	ψττ.00	ψτ0.10	ψτ0.00	Ψ01.20	ψ00.01	ψ00.00



SAN JUAN UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT Classified Salary Schedule (CSEA) 2024 – 2025 Salary Schedule

Range		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6
57	Monthly	\$7,943	\$8,310	\$8,687	\$9,109	\$9,576	\$10,057
	Hourly	\$45.83	\$47.95	\$50.12	\$52.56	\$55.26	\$58.03
58	Monthly	\$8,139	\$8,520	\$8,908	\$9,337	\$9,815	\$10,306
	Hourly	\$46.96	\$49.16	\$51.39	\$53.87	\$56.62	\$59.47
59	Monthly	\$8,345	\$8,731	\$9,131	\$9,572	\$10,062	\$10,566
	Hourly	\$48.14	\$50.37	\$52.67	\$55.22	\$58.05	\$60.96
60	Monthly	\$8,551	\$8,952	\$9,356	\$9,811	\$10,315	\$10,830
	Hourly	\$49.33	\$51.64	\$53.97	\$56.60	\$59.51	\$62.48
61	Monthly	\$8,767	\$9,175	\$9,591	\$10,057	\$10,570	\$11,102
	Hourly	\$50.57	\$52.94	\$55.33	\$58.03	\$60.98	\$64.05
62	Monthly	\$8,984	\$9,404	\$9,834	\$10,306	\$10,838	\$11,377
	Hourly	\$51.83	\$54.27	\$56.74	\$59.47	\$62.52	\$65.64
63	Monthly	\$9,208	\$9,639	\$10,076	\$10,565	\$11,107	\$11,664
	Hourly	\$53.12	\$55.61	\$58.13	\$60.95	\$64.09	\$67.30
64	Monthly	\$9,439	\$9,882	\$10,329	\$10,828	\$11,384	\$11,957
	Hourly	\$54.45	\$57.01	\$59.59	\$62.47	\$65.67	\$68.99
65	Monthly	\$9,676	\$10,127	\$10,588	\$11,102	\$11,670	\$12,254
	Hourly	\$55.83	\$58.43	\$61.07	\$64.05	\$67.33	\$70.70
66	Monthly	\$9,916	\$10,380	\$10,855	\$11,377	\$11,961	\$12,557
	Hourly	\$57.21	\$59.89	\$62.63	\$65.64	\$69.01	\$72.44
67	Monthly	\$10,171	\$10,643	\$11,141	\$11,663	\$12,208	\$12,777
	Hourly	\$58.68	\$61.41	\$64.29	\$67.28	\$70.44	\$73.71

Board Approval Date: August 13, 2024

5% increase effective July 01, 2024.

Monthly figures based on 8 hours per day, 260 workdays per year at listed hourly rate.

BENEFIT COST SCHEDULE CLASSIFIED BENEFITS Amounts shown tenthly

		TOTAL		
	TYPE OF	PREMIUM	DISTRICT	EMPLOYEE
BENEFIT PROVIDER	COVERAGE	COST	CONTRIBUTION	CONTRIBUTION
MEDICAL				
KAISER	Employee Only	\$1,028.38	\$1,028.38	\$0.00
	Employee + one	\$2,056.76	\$1,799.67	\$257.09
	Family	\$2,910.32	\$2,439.84	\$470.49
	In-District Family*	\$1,881.94	\$1,668.55	\$213.39
WESTERN HEALTH	Employee Only	\$867.42	\$867.42	\$0.00
ADVANTAGE	Employee + one	\$1,729.31	\$1,513.84	
	Family	\$2,591.16	\$2,160.23	
	In-District Family*	\$1,723.74	\$1,509.66	
	,	Ŧ , -	÷ ,	· · · ·
Waiver of medical insurance** Employee receives as cash			\$155.20	
			-	
DENTAL				
DELTA PREMIER/DELTA PPO	Employee Only	\$71.00	\$71.00	\$0.00
	Employee + one	\$136.00	\$71.00	\$65.00
	Family	\$208.00	\$71.00	\$137.00
	In-District - Family*	\$137.00	\$71.00	\$66.00
DELTA CARE - DENTAL HMO	Family	\$62.64	\$62.64	\$0.00
VISION				
VSP	Employee	\$9.07	\$9.07	\$0.00
VSP Voluntary Buy Up	Employee	\$11.32	\$9.07	\$2.25
	Employee + one	\$25.56	\$9.07	\$16.49
	Family	\$41.15	\$9.07	\$32.08
	In-District - Family*	\$29.83	\$9.07	\$20.76
LIFE INSURANCE				
\$50,000 basic life	Employee	\$7.68	\$7.68	\$0.00
\$25,000	Supplemental	\$8.75	\$0.00	\$8.75
\$50,000	Supplemental	\$17.50	\$0.00	\$17.50
\$75,000	Supplemental	\$26.25	\$0.00	\$26.25
\$100,000	Supplemental	\$35.00	\$0.00	\$35.00
\$1,500	Dep. Life	\$0.54	\$0.00	\$0.54
\$10,000	Dep. Life	\$3.60	\$0.00	\$3.60

*This option is available <u>only</u> if your legal spouse/registered domestic partner is a benefit eligible employee of SJUSD enrolled in the "identical" plan

** The waiver option is only available for medical insurance. Must provide proof of other non-Exchange coverage

APPENDIX C

File #:
CLASSIFIED FORMAL GRIEVANCE
Check one: Step 1: Step 2: Step 3: Step 4: Step 5: Step 5:
Grievant's Work Immediate
Name: Location: Supervisor:
Grievant's Date Assignment:Delivered:
Name of Representative: Self:
Signature
CSEA:Signature
Other:
Signature Provisions of the contract alleged to have been violated: The contract as a whole including, but not limited to:
Article(s): Paragraph(s): Sub-paragraph(s):
Statement of facts of alleged violation with dates, names, and places: Remedy sought by Grievant:
Signature of Date this form filled out: Grievant(s) Please send original to Employer/Employee Relations office Copies to: Immediate Supervisor Division Head Association Grievant